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Dear Shareholders,

We are satisfied to announce that we have finished 2018 on a 

positive note, with outstanding results, achievements and awards 

reaffirming Transelec’s leadership position in the power sector and 

vouching for our company’s quality and ongoing commitment to 

Chile’s development.

In terms of results, Transelec reported revenue amounting to CLP$ 

329.28 billion. This evidences important business growth related 

to the commissioning of new projects and publication of decree 

6T, which mainly determines tariffs for the Zonal system during 

the 2018-2019 period. This tariff update means that 100% of 

Transelec’s power transmission revenue now comes from installed 

capacity, providing even more stability for the company’s future 

revenue flow. Transelec’s increased income means that Ebitda was 

also up substantially compared to last year, at CLP$ 278.15 billion, 

highlighting our top-notch liquidity and cash generation capacity. 

At a corporate level, one of the most important headlines for 

Transelec was that China Southern Power Grid International (CSG) 

now holds an interest in the Company after purchasing the stake 

owned by Brookfield Asset Management in March 2018. This op-

eration gave CSG a 27.79% stake in Transelec as an indirect share-

holder. The remaining 72.21% of Transelec’s share capital is still 

owned by the Canadian Pension Plan Investment Board (CPP), 

BCI (former bcIMC) and Public Sector Pension Investment Board 

(PSP). As we stated last year, this agreement with one of the lead-

ing power transmission companies in the world confirms Transe-

lec’s status as leader in the Chilean power sector, recognizing the 

commitment honored and excellent work done by all of its collab-

orators over time.  

One of the most important milestones in the projects area last 

year was the commissioning of the new 2x220 kV Lo Aguirre – 

Cerro Navia transmission line in the city of Santiago. This was an 

important challenge and achievement for the company in that the 

line goes through a densely populated urban environment requir-

ing innovation in terms of project design and daily work with the 

community. This project included an underground section for the 

transmission line and urban posts, substantially mitigating the 

visual impact of the transmission line, replaced towers. One of the 

greatest technical challenges was construction of a tunnel span-

ning approximately 1.5 km with minimum impact on the commu-

nity. Several authorities recognized this tunnel as a flagship exam-

ple of infrastructure innovation.

Another important milestone was the award of important ten-

dered expansion projects. Two of these are located in the National 

system (the Río Malleco and Frutillar Norte substations) and two 

in the Zonal system (the Río Aconcagua and Lastarria substa-

tions). These substations will be built over the coming years. 

With regard to risk management and service quality, in 2018 

Transelec continued to implement its asset management pro-

gram for system operation, which has led to steady improvement 

in service quality over the last few years. However, Equivalent In-

terruption Time, one of the indicators used by the Company to 

assess service quality, came to approximately 8 system-minutes, 

which was up from historically low levels reported in former years. 

Considering low levels reported for this index over the last few 

years, any important electrical failure substantially alters the in-

dicator. This is exactly what happened in the city of Arica on De-

cember 14-15. Situations like this generally occur in areas, such as 

Arica, that do not have backup transmission lines to mitigate the 

impact of electrical failures. 

This event has undoubtedly posed important challenges for ser-

vice quality and led to lessons learned for emergency manage-

ment. Our ongoing mission to provide service meeting excellent 

quality standards to our customers and to maintain efficiency and 

competitiveness levels is backed by innovation, digital transforma-

tion and productivity initiatives under way at all Company levels.

In 2018, Transelec continued to receive important awards in areas 

that we as a Company have made a commitment to further devel-

op, such as Sustainability, Innovation and Business Development.

We are pleased to announce that Transelec received the National 

Engineering College Award in the corporate category, an annual 

prize awarded to the institution that has made the greatest con-

tribution to Chile’s development and to its inhabitants’ standard 

of living.

In the field of sustainability, we received 3rd place in the PROhu-

mana Ranking that highlighted seven companies for outstanding 

performance in sustainable management at different corporate 

levels. This result of ongoing sustainability efforts was achieved 

thanks to the committed work of all Transelec collaborators.

Transelec was once again included among Chile’s 50 most innova-

tive companies in the Innovación Best Place to Innovate ranking. 

This annual award is presented to companies perceived to be the 

most innovative in Chile.

Finally, we hosted the First Convention for Directors and Collab-

orators in the month of November. As directors we had the op-

portunity to explain how the Board of Directors and its different 

Committees work and outline their different responsibilities to our 

collaborators. Collaborators also presented important initiatives 

they have been developing at the Company to Directors.

We are proud to announce the Company’s achievements in 2018 

and sincerely thank our collaborators and contractors for their 

support. In keeping with our strategy, they enable Transelec, the 

leading power transmission company in Chile, to continue contrib-

uting to the country’s development. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I leave you with this 2018 

annual report. The report highlights the hard work and efforts put 

forth by everyone at Transelec, as well as our commitment to pro-

vide a service of excellence throughout nearly 10,000 kilometers 

of transmission lines spanning between Arica and Chiloé.

Brenda Eaton

Chair of the Board
of Directors

Letter from
The Chair of 
the Board Of 
Directors 
Brenda
Eaton
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Transelec assets consist of 9,672 kilometers of power 

transmission lines, of a total transformation capacity of 

18,535 MVA distributed between 61 substations, consid-

ering all substations where Transelec is the owner, lessee, 

usufructuary or operates an important number of power 

transmission facilities in any capacity. Therefore, Transe-

lec is the most important power transmission company 

in Chile’s National Power Grid spanning from Arica to the 

island of Chiloé. The power infrastructure it develops and 

operates provides energy to 98% of Chile’s population.  , 

Throughout its corporate history, Transelec has gained ex-

tensive knowledge and experience with each of the links 

comprising the chain of value for the power transmission 

industry: ranging from project evaluation, conceptual and 

basic engineering, power transmission and connection de-

sign to project management and construction, consultancy 

for commissioning, operation, maintenance and adminis-

tration of new facilities. 

Transelec contributes its extensive experience and knowl-

edge of power projects to a wide range of customers in 

the power, mining and industrial sectors throughout Chile. 

These customers trust in the support and excellence pro-

vided by the Company’s integral power transmission solu-

tions.

18,535 MVA

%

9,672

98

is the ability to
transformation, distributed

in 61 substations.

of transmission lines,
they are part of the Electrical 

System National of the 
country, which goes from

Arica to the Island of Chiloé.

of the population of Chile
it is supplied with energy,

thanks to the infrastructure
electrical that develops and

operates Transelec.

KM
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1943 1965 1978

Corfo created Empresa Nacional 
de Electricidad (Endesa) in 
order to power up a national 
plan featuring construction of 
new power generation units and 
especially a network of regional 
power transmission lines.

A submarine cable (presently 
an aerial cable) was laid across 
the Chacao Channel, supplying 
power to Isla Grande de 
Chiloé for the first time.

Interconnection with Chile’s Near North 
was enhanced with power transmission lines 
connecting San Isidro (presently Quillota) and 
Cardones. In the early 80s, the SIC power grid was 
extended as far as Diego de Almagro in order to 
connect the El Salvador mining company, while 220 
kV power transmission lines were extended as far 
as Puerto Montt in southern Chile.1955 1966

1986

199620032006

20002004

2014

2015 

2018

The SIC power grid (Central 
Interconnected System) was 
created by connecting the recently 
built Cipreses Power Plant by means 
of 154 kV power transmission lines 
to consumption centers in Santiago 
and Concepción.

Lo Aguirre sectioning substation featuring total 
capacity of 1,000 MVA was commissioned in order 
to boost power supply to the Metropolitan Region 
and to enable potential future connection of 
continuous current transmission lines.

The first 220 kV line, Rapel-
Cerro Navia, was built. In 1966, it 
connected the Rapel Plant with the 
growing electricity demand in the 
central zone of Chile.

All Transelec shares were 
purchased by the Canadian 
company Hydro-Québec.

The largest power transmission 
development project in history was 
completed: upgrading the system 
between Charrúa y Alto Jahuel 
to 550 kV, thus enabling connection 
of the Ralco hydroelectric power 
plant (690 MW).

At a ceremony attended by President 
of the Republic Michelle Bachelet, 
Transelec commissioned its National 
Transmission Operation Center (CNOT), 
which enabled the operation of our 
facilities to be centralized in real time with 
the highest standards.

Transelec built its first 
220 kV transmission line 
between Charrúa and Ancoa 
in order to connect the Pangue 
power plant (460 MW), which 
was later upgraded to connect 
the Ralco power plant.

Transelec entered the SING 
power grid after purchasing 
924 kilometers of 220kV 
transmission lines.

The Canadian consortium comprised of Brookfield Asset 
Management (BAM), Canada Pension Plan Investment Board 
(CPP), BCI and Public Sector Pension Investments (PSP) 
purchased 100% of Transelec’s shares, contributing its solid 
financial strength to meet Chile’s growth requirements.

The extra high voltage era started with 
the commissioning of the first 500 kV 
power transmission lines (Ancoa- 
Alto Jahuel 1 and 2). These were 
essential for the injection of power 
generated by the Colbún-Machicura 
into the SIC power grid.

1993
Endesa transformed its Power 
Transmission Division into the 
subsidiary Compañía Nacional de 
Transmisión Eléctrica S.A., followed 
by the creation of Transelec S.A., 
which was designed to plan, operate 
and maintain the system. In addition, 
the aerial crossing of the Chacao 
Channel was commissioned, consisting 
of two 179 meter towers and power 
transmission lines spanning a total 
length of 2,680 meters.

2010
Transelec purchased the 
Punta Colorada substation 
from Barrick Gold in order to 
consolidate service provision to 
the mining sector. In addition, 
Transelec commissioned the 
Las Palmas substation, which is 
the core node for wind power 
contribution to the SIC power 
grid.

The company China Southern Power Grid (CSG) purchased shares held by BAM in 
2018, making CSG shareholder of the 27.79% indirect interest in Transelec owned 
by BAM. Transelec final share ownership was consequently comprised of CPP, BCI, 
PSP and CSG. 

The First Directors and Collaborators Meeting was held in November, outlining 
how the Board of Directors and different Committees were to operate, as well as 
their respective duties. Collaborators were also able to present certain initiatives 
being developed at the Company.

On November 7, 2018 Transelec energized the new Line 2x220 kV Lo Aguirre - Cerro 
Navia which represented an important challenge and achievement for the company. 
Since the project was located in an urban environment, a section of the line had 
to be built underground. Its design had to reconcile the technical challenge of 
the construction of a tunnel of approximately 1.5 km. of extension with the 
minimum impact for the community.

2008

Energization of the 500 kV Alto 
Jahuel-Polpaico double circuit 
transmission line brought 
northbound network saturation 
to an end and was largely 
responsible for creation of 
a 500 kV ring surrounding 
Santiago, one of the key 
developments for the system’s 
future.



POWER TRANSMISSION
SYSTEM MAP
Authorized circulation, by Resolution No.15 of January 23rd, 2003 

of the National Border and Limits Board of the State. The edition 

and circulation of maps, geographic charts and other prints and 

documents referred or related to the boundaries and frontiers of 

Chile, do not compromise in any way the State of Chile, according 

to Art. 2, letter g) of DFL. No. 83 of 1979 from Ministry of Foreign 

Affairs.

Updated in October 2018.
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According to the company’s articles of incorporation, the 

Board of Directors is comprised of nine members elected 

by the shareholders at the respective shareholders meeting. 

Board members serve for a period of two years and are eli-

gible for re-election. There is one Deputy Director for each 

Director elected. The Chairman is elected by directors chosen 

at the shareholder meeting.

In conformity with the law and its by-laws, the Board of Di-

rectors meets at least once per month. The Transelec S.A. 

corporation held twelve ordinary meetings and four special 

Board of Directors meetings during the 2018 fiscal year. 

3

54 9

16
8

Brenda Eaton
Chair
Foreigner
Deputy Director:

Jordan Anderson

Alfredo Ergas Segal
Director
Tax identity number: 9.574.296-3

Deputy Director: Ricardo Szlejf

Alejandro Jadresic Marinovic
Director
Tax identity number: 7.746.199-K
Deputy Director: Valeria Ruz 

Hernández

1)

4)

7)

Rui Han
Director
Foreigner

Deputy Director: Sihong Zhong

Mario Valcarce Durán
Director
Tax identity number: 5.850.972-8
Deputy Director: Patricio Leyton
Flores 

Juan Benabarre Benaiges
Alternate Director
Tax identity number: 
5.899.848-6

Paul Dufresne*
Director
Foreigner
Deputy Director:

Jean Daigneault

Blas Tomic Errázuriz
Director
Tax identity number: 5.390.891-8

Deputy Director: Rodrigo Ferrada Celis

Patricia Núñez Figueroa
Alternate Director 
Tax identity number:

9.761.676-0

* El Sr. Paul Dufresne presentó su renuncia el 15 de Enero de 2019.

2)

5)

8)

3)

6)

9)



Board of Directors 
Salaries
Directors Alfredo Ergas, Paul Dufresne and Han Rui waived sa-

lary payment corresponding to the 2018 fiscal year. Salaries 

paid to directors throughout the 2018 fiscal year are listed 

as follows:

Brenda Eaton

CLP 73,912,323

Mario Valcarce Durán

CLP 58,720,275

Blas Tomic Errázuriz 

CLP 58,720,275

Alejandro Jadresic Marinovic 

CLP 58,720,275

Patricia Núñez Figueroa

CLP 20,585,475   

                                                           

Juan Benabarre Benaiges

CLP 20,585,475

BOARD OF DIRECTORS EXPENSES

Total payment for director expenses throughout the fiscal 

year amounted to CLP 54,276,417.

DIVERSITY ON THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

In terms of diversity, there are two women serving on the 

Board of Directors and two deputy directors are women, as 

well. The following graphs and figures show Board of Direc-

tors distribution by nationality, age and seniority at the Com-

pany.

I) Number of persons by gender

DIRECTORS ALTERNATE 
DIRECTORS

1/6

0

0
0
3
4
0

1/1 2/5

II) Number of persons by nationality

IV) Number of persons by seniorityIII) Number of persons by age range

(woman / men) (foreigners / Chileans)

Under 30 years
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1
3
1
2
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More than 6 and 
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and 50 years
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and 60 years

Between 61
and 70 years

DEPUTY
DIRECTORS
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DEPUTY
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2
0
0
0
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More than 12 years

5
2
0
0
0

Less than 3 years

Between 3
and 6 years

More than 6 and 
less than 9 years

Between 9
and 12 years

More than 12 years

DIRECTORS ALTERNATE 
DIRECTORS
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DIRECTORS
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

Creation of an Audit Committee different from that estab-

lished in the Corporations Law was approved in April 2007. 

Its functions, among others, are to revise auditor reports, 

balance sheets and other financial statements for the com-

pany, and to revise the annual (internal and external) audit 

plan, as well as its progress and reports, and to supervise 

the application, operation and certification of the Company’s 

Crime Prevention Model. 

The Transelec Audit Committee is comprised of four direc-

tors who are appointed by the Board of Directors, serve for a 

period of two years and are eligible for re-election. The Com-

mittee elects a Chairman from among its members and a 

Secretary, who may be one of its members or the Secretary 

of the Board of Directors. The Committee held four meetings 

in 2018..

As of 31 December 2018, the Audit Committee was com-

prised of its Chairman, Mr. Mario Valcarce Durán, directors Mr. 

Alfredo Ergas, Mrs. Brenda Eaton and Mr. Paul Dufresne, and 

its Secretary, Mr. Arturo Le Blanc Cerda. 

The salary paid to Mr. Mario Valcarce Durán as member of the 

Audit Committee between 1 January 2018 and 31 December 

2018 amounted to CLP 6,147,500.

INVESTMENT ADVISORY COMMITTEE

The Investment Advisory Committee is responsible for im-

proving information presented to the Board of Directors re-

garding the Company’s different projects, thus facilitating 

decision making by the Board of Directors. The main objec-

tives of the Committee are to recommend to the Board the 

rates of return per project, the bidding strategy, the mitiga-

tion of risks and other factors specific to the project; and 

provide an instance for the Management to access the re-

sources and experience of the shareholders.

OPERATIONS COMMITTEE

The purpose of this Committee is to give Transelec Adminis-

tration the opportunity to discuss operational issues in detail 

with the members of the Board of Directors, either before 

or after Board of Directors meetings. The Committee is also 

responsible for supervising health and safety programs set 

out in Transelec recommendations regarding health, safety 

and operational KPIs.

OTHER COMMITTEES

A) Coordination Commitees: these involve the different 

Transelec Vice-Presidencies. The Committees meet regularly 

to coordinate the most important issues for the Company. 

These are listed as follows:

> Executive Committee.

> Business Committee.

> Projects Committee.

> Operational Excellence and Results Committee.

> Regulatory Agenda Committee.

B) Integrated Management System Committee: this Com-

mittee’s mission is to discuss all issues related to Occupa-

tional Health and Safety, Environment and Quality. The Com-

mittee meets on a regular basis to approve programs and 

plans for monitoring these issues.

REGULATORY AND CORPORATE REPUTATION COMMITTEE

The Regulatory and Corporate Reputation Committee meets 

on a bimonthly basis to revise the Regulatory and Corporate 

Reputation Strategy to be executed with regard to the main 

legal and regulatory amendments in the power and environ-

mental sectors, and to manage tariff processes in the Na-

tional and Zonal Power Transmission Systems.

FINANCE COMMITTEE

The Finance Committee meets regularly to review the Com-

pany’s financial strategy. The Committee also provides con-

sultancy and approves different proposals made by Transe-

lec. Issues such as financing, hedging, risk management, 

distribution, tax issues and projections are reviewed, among 

others. These issues, in case of requiring approval, are subse-

quently presented to the Board of Directors.

HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE

The Human Resources Committee meets at least once per 

year to review issues related to the people comprising the 

Transelec team. Among other issues, the Committee reviews 

financial KPIs, which are the base of the incentive pyramid 

for the Company’s current variable bonus system, as well as 

other issues related to personal development, training, etc.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Corporate Government Committee was created in 2016. 

The Committee’s mandate is to propose and nominate mem-

bers of the Board of Directors and to evaluate their man-

agement, approve codes and manuals and modifications 

made to these, to examine and evaluate Transelec corporate 

governance guidelines and to make recommendations to the 

Board of Directors, among others.
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MANAGEMENT TEAM 

Andrés Kuhlmann Jahn
General Manager
Civil Industrial Engineer
Pontificia Universidad
Católica de Chile
Tax identification number: 
6.554.568-3

Rodrigo López Vergara
Vice-President Of Operations
Civil Electrical Engineer
Universidad de Chile
Tax identification number: 
7.518.088-8

Claudio Aravena Vallejo
Vice-President of Human 
Resources
Commercial Engineer
Pontificia Universidad
Católica de Chile
Tax identification number: 
9.580.875-1 

Francisco Castro Crichton
Vice-President of Finance
Civil Industrial Engineer
Pontificia Universidad
Católica de Chile
Tax identification number: 
9.963.957-1

Arturo Le Blanc Cerda
Vice-President of Legal 
Affairs and 
Prosecutor General
Attorney
Universidad de Chile
Tax identification number: 
10.601.441-8

David Noe Scheinwald
Vice-President of Corporate 
affairs and Sustainability
Civil Industrial Engineer
Pontificia Universidad
Católica de Chile
Tax identification number: 
10.502.232-8

Eric Ahumada Gómez
Vice-President of Sales and 
Business Development
Civil Electrical Engineer
Universidad de Chile
Tax identification number: 
9.899.120-4

Alexandros Semertzakis 
Pandolfi
Vice-President of Engineering 
and Project Development
Civil Engineer
Universidad de Santiago
de Chile
Tax identification number: 
7.053.358-8

1) 2) 3) 4)

17
5

8
4 3 2 6

5) 6) 7) 8)
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Transelec participates in both the regulated systems (natio-

nal and zonal) and the dedicated system (bilateral contracts 

with large customers) that comprise Chile’s power transmis-

sion business. The Company owns transmission assets in the 

country for US $ 3,981 million as of December 31, 2018.

REGULATORY SCENARIO

The legal framework that regulates how the power trans-

mission industry operates in Chile is based on Ministry of 

Economy, Development and Reconstruction Statutory Decree 

N°4 dated 2006. This decree determines the consolidated, 

coordinated and systematized text of the General Electrici-

ty Services Law, hereinafter and indistinctively the “General 

Electricity Services Law” or “LGSE”. The LGSE and its comple-

mentary regulations determine standards applicable to any 

power generation, transmission or distribution facility with 

regard to technical, safety, coordination, quality, information 

and economic aspects of appropriate power sector opera-

tion. 

The first three systems are public services for which tariffs 

are set by the Ministry of Energy. These systems are sub-

ject to universal open access under non-discriminatory con-

ditions. Access shall be provided to Exclusive System power 

transmission facilities as long as there is available technical 

Transelec’s business is power transmission. The current legal 

framework that regulates the power transmission business 

in Chile defines power transmission systems and classifies 

their facilities into four1 categories:

The last important reform made to the LGSE is the recent-

ly passed Law Nº 20,936/2016, which incorporated the fo-

llowing important amendments: 

> a new functional definition of Power Transmission Systems

> a new long-term Energy Planning and Power Transmission 

Planning process

 

> a new remuneration and tariff setting mechanism for pu-

blic service power transmission facilities

 

> a new universal Open Access regime 

> a preliminary definition of power transmission line routes 

for specific new projects, by means of a Strip Study Proce-

dure, and

 

> creation of a new Independent Coordinator for the Natio-

nal Electricity System

transmission capacity that is determined by the Coordinator, 

without prejudice of the hired capacity or the company’s own 

projects that have been reliably considered upon the interes-

ted third party requesting use of these facilities.

03 THE  BUSSINESS

The National Trasmission System: 

comprised of power trans-

mission lines and electrical 

substations that enable de-

velopment of this market, in-

terconnecting all other power 

transmission segments and 

enabling power to be supplied for 

meeting total power system demand in different 

power generation facility availability scenarios, in-

cluding contingency and fault situations.

Zonal Transmission Systems: com-

prised of power transmission 

lines and electrical substa-

tions essentially arranged to 

supply current or future regu-

lated customers that can be 

identified on a territorial basis, 

without compromising use by free 

customers or power generation companies con-

nected directly to or by means of power transmis-

sion systems used for the aforementioned power 

transmission systems.

Transmission Systems for Develop-

ment Poles: comprised of power 

transmission lines and elec-

trical substations used to 

transmit electrical energy 

generated by a single develo-

pment pole into a power trans-

mission system, thus making effi-

cient use of national territory.

Dedicated Transmission Systems: 

comprised of power trans-

mission lines and electrical 

substations that are inter-

connected to the electricity 

system and essentially arran-

ged to supply electrical energy 

to users that are not subject to 

price regulation or to inject power produced by 

power plants into the power grid. 

1 Article 73 of LGSE: “International interconnection systems, which will be subject to special standards
determined for this purpose, are also part of the power transmission system”.
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Several regulations related to Law N° 20,936 have been pu-

blished to date, determining necessary provisions for the 

execution of issues related to energy planning, preliminary 

dispositions required for the execution of issues related to 

energy planning, preliminary easement strips, international 

interconnections and compensation for power supply outa-

ges. Regarding issues for which no regulations have yet been 

formulated, the Commission has published several resolu-

tions containing temporary provisions in terms of deadlines, 

requirements and conditions indicated in the new law. The 

Ministry of Energy and the Commission have been formula-

ting regulations this year that will soon be published based 

on a participatory process involving all stakeholders in the 

power market, which address the following issues:

i) Open access planning process and interconnection of fa-

cilities, and  

ii) Power Transmission System tariff setting, compensation 

and payment. 

These regulations should be published during the first half of 

2019. Operation Coordination and Complementary Services 

Regulations are currently being acknowledged as constitu-

tional by the General Comptrollership of the Republic prior to 

publication and application.

SYSTEM GROWTH

In addition, the CNE must conduct a power transmission 

planning process each year. This process must consider a 

timeline of at least twenty years. This planning encompas-

ses upgrade projects required for the National Transmission 

System, the Zonal Transmission System, Development Poles 

and Exclusive Transmission Systems used by public distribu-

tion service concessionaries to supply users subject to price 

regulation. These expansion plans feature investments that 

must be classified as new projects or upgrades for existing 

facilities. As the result of this process, the CNE formulates a 

technical report and the Ministry of Energy will use this re-

port to determine the power transmission Expansion Plan for 

the following 12 months. This authority plans annual inter-

national auctions to award said transmission projects accor-

ding to the level of robustness and growth that it considers 

appropriate and necessary for the system.

REMUNERATION FOR THE NATIONAL AND 
ZONAL TRANSMISSION SYSTEMS,
DEVELOPMENT POLES AND EXCLUSIVE 
FACILITIES USED BY USERS SUBJECT TO 
PRICE REGULATION 

Revenue generated by existing facilities in the National and 

Zonal Transmission Systems and for Development Poles is 

constituted by the Annual Transmission Value by Segment 

(ATVS), which is calculated based on Annual Investment Va-

lue (AIV) and Operating, Maintenance and Administration 

Costs (OMAC) for each of the segments comprising these 

systems. In addition, revenue generated by the use of exclu-

sive transmission facilities by users subject to price regula-

tion is constituted by the proportion of their ATVS assignable 

to said users.

SYSTEM VALUATION STUDIES 

Segments comprising these systems and their correspon-

ding ATVS are determined by the National Energy Commis-

sion (CNE) once every four years based on a Transmission 

System Valuation Study or Studies conducted by a consul-

tant chosen by means of an international public tender. The 

CNE will consequently formulate a technical report and based 

on this report the Ministry of Energy will set National and 

Zonal Transmission and Development Pole tariffs as well as 

payment for the use of exclusive transmission facilities by 

users subject to price regulation. During the four-year period 

between two consecutive tariff setting processes, both AIV 

and OMAC for each segment will be indexed using formulas 

designed to maintain the real value of AIV and OMAC during 

said time period. Indexing formulas and their application 

frequency are determined in the corresponding tariff setting 

process.  

TRANSMISSION SYSTEM PAYMENT

Payment for National, Zonal and Exclusive Transmission Sys-

tems used by users subject to price regulation shall be made 

by free and regulated end users. Transmission System pay-

ment for Development Poles determines a single rate in such 

a way that collection for this service will compensate for the 

proportion of facilities to be used as development poles that 

are not used for existing power generation. ATVS that is not 

covered by this rate will be paid by power generation compa-

nies injecting their production into the corresponding pole. In 

the case of the National Transmission System, Law N°20,936 

established a transmission period determined between 2019 

and 2034, in order to gradually replace the former payment 

and remuneration regime with the aforementioned new re-

gime. In the case of Zonal Transmission Systems, the new 

payment and remuneration regime will come into force as of 

1 January 2018.

The Coordinator will be responsible for international public 

tenders for upgrade projects, regardless of whether these 

are new works or upgrades. Tenders for the construction and 

execution of upgrades for existing facilities will be settled 

depending on the IV offered and the respective company 

awarded the contract will be paid by the owner of these faci-

lities, as opposed to what happens in the case of new works, 

for which exploitation and execution rights will be awarded 

to the bidder indicating the lowest ATVS for the project ten-

dered. The upgrade project owner will receive ATVS compri-

sed of the corresponding AIV and OMAC, in which AIV will be 

determined considering the awarded IV, which will remain in 

force for five tariff setting periods. In the case of new Works, 

ATVS resulting from the tender will constitute compensation 

and will be applied for five tariff setting periods.

DEDICATED SYSTEM REMUNERATION

Revenue generated by the use of facilities belonging to Ex-

clusive Transmission Systems is obtained in keeping with the 

provisions of transmission contracts signed between users 

and the owners of these facilities. Prices are normally set by 

calculating AVI + OMAC that is determined by mutual agree-

ment between the parties.

Even if these exclusive facilities are essentially being used 

to inject power produced by power plants into the system or 

to supply electrical energy to free customers, the authority 

could eventually declare these facilities to be National, Zonal 

or Development Poles if operating conditions are changed 

and if these facilities meet the corresponding requirements.
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TARIFF STUDIES

NATIONAL POWER TRANSMISSION / TRUNK

TRANSMISSION SYSTEM

The Ministry of Energy published Supreme Decree N° 23 T in 

February 2016, bringing new tariffs for Trunk Transmission 

and National System facilities into force for the 2016-2019 

period as required. 

Application of the new Law N° 20,936/2016 enabled the 

identification of two temporary collection, payment and re-

muneration periods for the National Transmission System, 

which are regulated as follows:

> The 2016-2018 Period: the collection, payment and remu-

neration regime established by Law N° 19,940 (Short Law I) 

in March 2004 will be applied.

> The 2019-2034 Period: the collection, payment and re-

muneration regime established by Temporary Article 25 of 

the new Law N° 20,936/2016 will be applied. This tempo-

rary standard was designed to prevent double payment for 

transmission due to current power supply contracts between 

power generation companies and free, end or regulated cus-

tomers that were signed before the aforementioned law 

came into force.

ZONAL TRANSMISSION / SUBTRANSMISSION SYSTEM

Temporary Article Eleven of Law N°20,936/2016 indicates 

that Supreme Decree 14/20132 will remain in force between 1 

January 2016 and 31 December 2017, including adjustments 

made by the Ministry of Energy by means of a decree issued 

under the “by order of the President of the Republic” for-

mula. These adjustments to Supreme Decree 14/2013 were 

determined by the Ministry of Energy by means of Decree 

1T dated February 2017. In turn, Temporary Article Twelve 

of Law N° 20,936/2016 indicates that continuity and termi-

nation will be provided for the process of setting the annual 

value of subtransmission systems for application during the 

2018-2019 period throughout the extended term of Decree 

14/2013. 

Therefore, during the extended term of Supreme Decree N° 

14/2013, the process for setting the annual value for sub-

transmission and additional transmission systems used by 

users subject to price regulation under way at the time the 

new Law Ley N°20,936/2016 was published has now been 

completed. Therefore, in July 2018 the CNE published Exempt 

Resolution N°53119 replacing the technical report determi-

ning ATVS for Zonal Transmission Systems and the propor-

tion of exclusive transmission use by users subject to price 

regulation during the 2018-2019 two year period, approved 

by means of CNE Exempt Resolution N°414 dated 31 July 

2017, in accordance with the provisions of the new Law 

N°20,936/2016. This technical report was used as the basis 

for formulating Decree 6T, published in the Official Gazet-

te 5 October 2018, which sets the annual value by section 

of zonal and exclusive transmission facilities used by users 

subject to price regulation, as well as tariffs and indexing 

formulas for the 2018-2019 period.

NEW 2020-2023 TARIFF SETTING PROCESS – NATIONAL 

AND ZONAL TRANSMISSION SYSTEM

A new 2020-2023 tariff setting process for the National and 

Zonal Transmission Systems started in 2018 with the first 

power transmission facilities Qualification Process in accor-

dance with Law N°20,936. The CNE invalidated this Qualifi-

cation Process in August 2018 following the detection of in-

consistencies in methodology application. The Qualification 

Process resumed in October 2018 with the publication of a 

new CNE Preliminary Facilities Qualification Technical Report. 

A ruling by the Panel of Experts regarding discrepancies pre-

sented by the companies regarding the CNE Facilities Qualifi-

cation Technical Report is currently being awaited.

In addition, the CNE published the final Technical and Admi-

nistrative Bases for the tendering of Valuation Studies in Oc-

tober 2018. However, these will be published after the new 

facilities qualification process that is currently under way 

has been completed. The next stages of this tariff setting 

process are: the tendering and formulation of Tariff Studies, 

formulation and publication of the Final CNE Technical Report 

and the setting and publication of 2020-2023 tariffs by the 

Ministry of Energy. This tariff setting process should be fini-

shed by the beginning of 2021.

MARKET SHARE AS OF 31
DECEMBER 2018

Transelec is an important stakeholder in Chile’s power trans-

mission system, as a pioneering company and leader that 

has substantial know-how and expertise. In keeping with the 

remuneration system for the power transmission market, the 

Company receives revenue as profit over installed capacity 

and therefore market share is not a significant factor. Tran-

selec has the following market share of operational power 

transmission lines:

2 Ministry of Energy Decree N° 14, 2012, sets tariffs for Subtransmission and Additional Transmission systems and tariff indexing formulas for the 2011-2017 period
 A one-time extension was made to this decree up until 31 December 2015 by means of Decree N° 8T dated March 2015.
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NATIONAL POWER GRID PROJECTS

NEW PROJECTS

1. STUDIES

Transelec S.A. is currently developing studies in order to participate in the new projects tendering process executed by the 

National Electricity Coordinator. The project portfolio has a reference investment value amounting to approximately US$ 2.40 

billion, highlighting the New HDVC Transmission Line Project between the Lo Aguirre Substation and the Kimal Substation.

2. CONTRACTS AWARDED

As part of the Exempt Decree N°422/2017 “National Power Transmission System Upgrade Plan” process, Transelec S.A. was 

awarded Projects amounting to reference investment value of US$ 19.3 million:

3. PROJECT DEVELOPMENT

No projects with commissioning scheduled after 31 December 2018 were developed during the period.

4. COMMISSIONING

Transelec S.A. energized projects amounting to a reference investment value of USD 99.2 million in 2018:

UPGRADES

1.STUDIES

The Ministry of Energy published Exempt Decree N°293 that “Determines Upgrade Works for National and Zonal Systems” in the 

Official Gazette 08 November 2018.

The National Electricity Coordinator consequently started a national upgrade works tendering process amounting to a reference 

investment value of USD 16.7 million:

Work contracts are expected to be awarded in the second quarter of 2019.

2.CONTRACT AWARDING

Transelec S.A. awarded projects amounting to a reference investment value of USD 6.2 million in 2018 and started developing 

the following projects:
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3. PROJECT DEVELOPMENT

Transelec S.A. continued developing projects amounting to a reference investment value of USD 50.1 million:

4.COMMISSIONING

Projects amounting to a reference investment value of USD 18.1 million were energized in 2018:

INVESTMENT IN 2018

NATIONAL POWER GRID

Values in CLP million

NEW PROJECTS

1.STUDIES

Transelec S.A. is currently developing studies in order to participate in the tendering process executed by the National Electricity 

Coordinator. The project portfolio has an approximate reference investment value of USD 75.0 million distributed between the 

A, B, C and E systems.

2.CONTRACT AWARDING

In the framework of the Exempt Decree N°418/2017 “National Power Transmission System Upgrade Plan” process, Transelec 

S.A. was awarded projects amounting to an approximate investment value of USD 39.1 million:

3. PROJECT DEVELOPMENT

No projects were developed in this segment.

4. COMMISSIONING

No projects were energized in 2018.

03 THE  BUSSINESST R A N S E L E C  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8

32 33 



UPGRADE WORKS

1.STUDIES

In October 2018, the National Electricity Coordinator called a tender for upgrade works for which contracts were not awarded 

during the works tendering process indicated in Exempt Decree N° 418/2017. The approximate investment value of projects to 

be retendered is USD 9.6 million, The following table shows the referential AIV of the project according to the Decree:

2. CONTRACTS AWARDED

In the framework of Exempt Decree N° 418 determining a “List of upgrade works for zonal transmission facilities subject to 

mandatory execution”, in July 2018 the National Electricity Coordinator awarded upgrade works contracts amounting to an 

approximate investment value of USD 12.7 million. The following table shows the referential AIV of the project according to the 

Decree:

3. PROJECT DEVELOPMENT

Transelec S.A. continued zonal upgrade project development amounting to an approximate  investment value of USD 26.4 mi-

llion in 2018. The following table shows the referential AIV of the project according to the Decree:

4. COMMISSIONING

Projects amounting to an approximate investment value of USD 21.7 million were energized in 2018.  The following table shows 

the referential AIV of the project according to the Decree:

Project contracts are expected to awarded during the second quarter of 2019.

The Ministry of Energy published Exempt Decree N°293 que “Determines  upgrade works for National and Zonal Systems” in the 

Official Gazette 08 November 2018.

The National Electricity Coordinator consequently started a tendering process for upgrade works amounting to a reference in-

vestment value of USD 20.2 million:

Project contracts are expected to awarded during the second quarter of 2019.
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INVESTMENT IN 2018

ZONAL SYSTEM

Values in CLP million

INVESTMENT IN 2018

EXCLUSIVE POWER TRANSMISSION SYSTEM

Values in CLP million

EXCLUSIVE SYSTEM PROJECTS

1. STUDIES

Transelec has continued its pursuit of new business opportunities in 2018, aiming to establish and strengthen relations with its 

customers while contributing its expertise in the provision of technical, innovative and competitive solutions.

2. PROJECTS AWARDED

No projects were awarded during the period.

3. PROJECT DEVELOPMENT

No projects were developed this year.

4. COMMISSIONING

No projects were energized this year.

ENVIRONMENT

Transelec operations are subject to Law N°19,300/1994 on 

General Environmental Guidelines (“Environmental Law”) and 

its subsequent amendments. The Environmental Law requi-

res the principals of new projects or modifications of high 

voltage transmission lines and electrical substations to com-

ply with the Environmental Impact Evaluation System (SEIA) 

and submit Environmental Impact Studies (EIA) or Environ-

mental Impact Declarations (DIA) as required so that these 

projects can be environmentally evaluated and qualified by 

the respective Environmental Evaluation Commissions and 

then finally approved by means of an environmental qualifi-

cation resolution. In addition, these regulations indicate that 

the project principal will be entitled to request the Environ-

mental Evaluation Service to make an official announcement 

as to whether a project or its modification should be submit-

ted to the SEIA. These documents to be submitted are known 

as letters of pertinence to be submitted to the SEIA.

More specifically, the main reform made to the Environmental 

Law came about through the passing of Law 20,417/2010 

that introduced important changes to current institutiona-

lism, creating new environmental management instruments 

and modifying existing instruments. Transelec consequently 

had to adjust to these new requirements. The institutional 

framework was therefore constituted by the following enti-

ties:

	 i. Ministry of the Environment,

	 ii. Council of Ministers for Sustainability,

	 iii. Advisory Councils,

	 iv. Environmental Evaluation Service,

	 v. Environmental Superitendence, and

	 vi. Environmental Courts. 

These institutions are responsible for the design and applica-

tion of environmental policies, plans and programs, the pro-

posal of sustainability criteria for the formulation of planning 

process and policies at ministries, the formulation of regula-

tions, SEIA administration, project inspection and sanctions, 

among others. Environmental Evaluation System Regulations 

(SD N°40/2012) came into force 24 December 2013. Among 

other issues, these regulations indicate requirements for en-

vironmental impact evaluation procedures for Environmental 

Impact Studies and Environmental Impact Declarations and 

community participation, as well as consultation with first 

nations throughout this process.

We wish to highlight that the creation and commissioning of 

Environmental Courts 28 December 2012 was also accompa-

nied by entry into force of inspection and sanction capacity 

for the Environmental Superintendence.

Transelec is an active user of environmental institutionalism. 

The company submitted three projects for environmental 

evaluation in 2018 and two of these are still being evaluated. 

In addition, 56 environmental sectorial permits were lobbied 

for projects under construction and currently operating. The-

se permits are currently in different stages of approval. 

The Company’s outstanding environmental performance 

has meant that no fines have been applied this year due to 

non-compliance with environmental commitments or to our 

assets during operating stages, despite the fact that we are 

managing 15 projects in development stages.

Moreover, in 2018 the Ministry of the Environment continued 

executing a process for requesting information from project 

principals regarding waste management. This extended pro-

ducer responsibility and the encouragement of recycling is 

part of the application framework of Law 20,920. In addition, 

the first regulation indicating valuation and collection goals 

for tires, one of six priority products, was published this year. 

Finally, with regard to climate change, in 2018 the Ministry of 

the Environment and the Ministry of Energy launched the first 

public-private working table for the national climate change 

plan in the energy sector. This plan was designed to share 

adaptation experiences implemented, prioritize adaptation 

actions and address an action implementation timeline, 

among other objectives. Measures for the implementation of 

actions for leveraging public and private investment required 

in order to ramp up the aforementioned national plan will 
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also be discussed, together with the promotion of studies 

qualifying the impact of climate change on energy supply 

and demand.

OUR CUSTOMERS

Transelec transmits electrical energy needed by Chile’s inha-

bitants using the company’s power transmission lines that 

transport energy from production centers to cities and to lar-

ge industrial and mining industry users. Our responsibility is 

to ensure that residential customers and industries have a 

continuous and uninterrupted power supply in order to con-

tribute to improving the country’s development and quality 

of life.

The Company is the leading provider of power transmission 

services in the National Electricity System and plays an es-

sential role in Chile’s energy development. Our customers are 

those users that withdraw and/or inject energy into power 

transmission systems, which is to say, power generation 

companies and power distribution companies, industrial cus-

tomers and mining companies .

We understand that being leaders in the power transmission 

market not only means managing large-scale projects, which 

Transelec has been doing throughout its corporate history, 

but also providing better solutions for each type of customer 

and adapting to the new requirements of a constantly chan-

ging market.

Transelec’s commitment not only focuses on its customers, 

but also involves the future of Chile’s energy, which can be 

understood as a development engine. We have been a funda-

mental stakeholder at discussions arising regarding the new 

We examine the opinions and perception of our customers 

by means of an annual Customer Service Survey applied to 

our Connection clients. Our efforts have led to a constant 

and sustainable increase in satisfaction levels reached. This 

is a very important result in a year that was very particular 

for all the regulatory changes that are affecting this process. 

The information obtained from the survey allows us to im-

prove and refine the processes to adapt them to the new 

regulations and the needs of the users of the Transmission 

System. 

Likewise, our main customers were able to express their opi-

nions regarding Transelec’s overall reputation through a sur-

vey this year. Without a doubt, at Transelec we understand 

the reputation of a company as a relevant element when de-

ciding to do businesses and that is why it is a permanent 

concern, our efforts are directed to establish a long-term 

partner relationship.

power transmission law and the formulation of regulations 

by means of participatory and consultative workshops whe-

re Transelec has contributed its extensive experience toward 

the final formulation of energy policies.  

Providing a service closely focused on our customers has 

always been a fundamental pillar of the company’s policy. 

We will focus on improving quality standards for our custo-

mers over the coming years, backed by innovation as a lyn-

chpin for achieving these objectives.

OUR CUSTOMER SERVICE POLICY

Our policy is to interpret and understand our customers’ 

needs, identifying optimum technical and economic solu-

tions for each project and executing these projects in kee-

ping with the highest quality, safety and environmental pa-

rameters. We seek to reach a commitment that will forge 

long-term relations over the years.

Our commitment is to provide service and consultancy using 

our extensive and specialized knowledge of power transmis-

sion in order to provide tailor-made service for project execu-

tion. Customer service and trust in our knowledge as system 

specialists are the foundation for close relations with our 

customers and the market.

The pursuit and provision of a specialized power supply 

allows us to develop the best and most innovative power 

transmission solutions, especially for highly complex pro-

jects with tight deadlines, incorporating cutting-edge tech-

nological solutions.

Our projects are executed in compliance with the highest 

standards in a framework of sustainability throughout their 

entire life cycle, using technology and designs that are com-

patible with the environment, communities, our employees 

and contractors.  
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%

PARTICIPATION OF TRANSLEC CUSTOMERS*

INVESTMENT VALUE (IV)

US$ milions

DISTRIBUTION OF INCOME PER SYSTEM *

*According to the Billing.

ENEL GROUP
COLBÚN GROUP
AES GENER GROUP 

31

34

1412

7

2

ENGIE
PACIFIC HYDRO GROUP
OTHERS

INVESTMENT VALUE (IV)

The current regulatory framework establishes mechanisms for calculating and publishing power transmission company invest-

ment valuation at market prices. This information is used to set service tariffs.

Transelec transmission facilities were appraised at US$ 3.981 million as of 31 December 2018.
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The essential purpose of Transelec operations is to trans-

mit power in compliance with highly demanding service 

quality and safety standards. The company uses its own 

personnel and highly specialized contractors to meet this 

objective, as well as technology-intensive processes and 

resources based on risk models.

In addition, Transelec considers innovation to be a strate-

gic tool in the pursuit of continuous improvement for the 

operation and asset management.

ASSET MANAGEMENT

We worked on developing a new criticality model for our 

assets in 2018. This new methodology will enable us to 

rank the priority of maintenance and asset replacement 

activities, determining a hierarchical order for the use of 

resources. This model will become even more important 

in the coming years, in which steadily increasing invest-

ment at our existing facil ities considers the execution of 

more than 1,500 works over the next six years. 

In order to continue improving the categorized mainte-

nance plan, we started to provide monthly monitoring of 

A categories, which constitute the most critical mainte-

nance activities. This new initiative was able to identify 

problems faster and thus streamline management. All 

of this is reflected in early compliance with the “main-

tenance compliance” index compared to previous years. 

Digital transformation is an essential pil lar for the Tran-

selec facil ities maintenance strategy. The operations di-

gitalization strategy continued in 2018 as a focus for 

consolidating and evolving our asset management mo-

del. Work toward this purpose was executed by Transe-

lec and the consulting company McKinsey.

 

Under this premise, Transelec has been working hard on 

key drivers to enable digitalization. These include the 

revision of processes related to operating data, which 

are an essential element for optimum decision making 

regarding assets. In addition, a revision of technological 

tools is currently under way that will enable the imple-

mentation of an asset maintenance and replacement 

strategy based on actual conditions. 

ASSET PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

Transelec asset performance in 2018 evidenced positive 

results for the Disconnection Rate indicator which measu-

res service efficiency. In general terms, there was a 44.8% 

reduction compared to 2017 and improvement was obser-

ved in the three following technical areas:

> The transmission line outage rate was 29.5% lower in 

2017. These results are mainly due to more intensive ve-

getation management during the year, based on the focal 

points determined in 2017. This led to 18 fewer discon-

nections compared to the year before.

04 THE  OPERATION

> Control and protection outage rates were down 27.0% 

compared to 2017. These results stem from quality assu-

rance work while renewing protection equipment, as well 

as performance revision in keeping with the NERC Reliabi-

lity Standards. 

> Failure rate indicator results for high voltage assets 

were 78.7% lower than in 2017. These results are mainly 

related to a dramatic reduction in forced outages affecting 

FACTS equipment.

OPERATION

The Transelec Operational Continuity Plan brings together 

guidelines for the efficient and effective prevention and 

mitigation of and response to emergency situations in or-

der to recover and preserve operational continuity at our 

facilities. Continuous improvement of this procedure was 

managed in 2018 and a study was started by an interna-

tional consultant in order to assess and apply the latest 

advances in terms of good practices for operational con-

tinuity plans.

This work also included:

Doubling the number of 

brigades monitoring vegetation 

throughout the routes of our 

nearly 10,000 kilometers of 

transmission lines

Proactive work in collaboration 

with Conaf and other emergency 

organizations.

Training sessions in order to pre-

vent risks when operating under 

high voltage transmission lines. 
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This view to prevention and action is applied throughout 

the entire year in order to ensure that all types of extre-

me events that may compromise Transelec service quali-

ty are addressed in a timely and preventive manner.

We have made substantial progress with the initiative 

for consolidating our Safety Culture in 2018. The initiati-

ve is sponsored by the Industrial Safety Culture Institute 

(ICSI), France. We at Transelec believe that no opera-

tional emergency or goal justifies exposing a worker to 

uncontrolled risks.  Transelec’s 2018 accident index was 

the lowest in the last ten years, due to high compliance 

rates with Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) Plans 

and Programs featuring the direct involvement of con-

tracting companies and the support of our shareholders 

(best practices and lessons learned).

The Transelec National Transmission Operation Center 

(CNOT) plays a fundamental role in ensuring service con-

tinuity. CNOT construction was completed in 2014, mee-

ting the highest safety standards and making it possible 

for Transelec to centralize the operation of its facil ities 

in real time. A competency management process for 

CNOT operators was implemented in 2016. The process 

included the assessment of model skil ls. Transelec will 

start to use the recently imple-

mented Operator Training Sys-

tem (OTS) in 2019. This system 

will enable operators to impro-

ve their technical and behavio-

ral performance in a controlled 

environment by simulating ex-

treme events and conditions, 

replicating actual characteris-

tics in the system and the wor-

kplace. 

QUALITY OF SERVICE

Service quality is one of the Company’s strategic pil lars, 

which is the result of Transelec management work in ne-

twork operation and asset maintenance and renewal. In 

addition, network topology evolution, changes made to 

quality standards and the increasing demands of society 

mean that we set loftier goals each year. 

In order to measure service quality, Transelec considers 

Equivalent Interruption Time (EIT), which measures ser-

vice safety by means of total energy not supplied to free 

and regulated customers over a relevant period  compa-

red to maximum demand in the system. 

46 forced disconnections with power outages attribu-

table to Transelec at its own facil ities were reported in 

2018, which meant EIT amounting to 7.905 system-mi-

nutes. This value is higher than the trend of excellent 

results of the last 5 years, which is mainly explained by 

the failure that affected the city of Arica on December 

14, 2018. Given how low this indicator was in previous 

years, any significant failure alters EIT significantly, es-

pecially if the failure is for several hours. This type of 

situation tends to occur in places, such as Arica, which 

do not have backup transmission lines that mitigate the 

impact of failures. Redundancy in the system, which can 

be determined by the regulator, becomes a key factor to 

lessen the effects of failures in vulnerable areas.
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Employees play a key role as part of the pillars of Transelec’s 

strategic plan. The high quality standards we keep our work 

up to and the growing challenges being faced by the com-

pany lead us to recruit and retain the best professionals in 

the market for our different divisions. 

Transelec therefore has compensation, benefits and bonus 

policies that keep our company competitive in terms of trai-

ning, motivating and retaining talent.

In terms of professional development for our employees, the 

Company regularly hosts training programs that to keep our 

professional quality standards high. We have also developed 

the concept of knowledge management at the company in 

order to retain current knowledge at the Company and trans-

fer this knowledge to new generations.

QUALITY OF LIFE

Transelec has several initiatives:

05 OUR PEOPLE

One of the most appreciated 
initiatives is a shorter workday 
on Fridays, which is the case 
throughout the entire year. A 

recent incorporation is bridge 
days when legal holidays fall on a 

Tuesday or Thursday.

Another outstanding be-
nefit is the 5-minute Wor-
kout Program that started 
in 2011. This program has 

been implemented in Santiago 
and in Chile’s regions. 

Along the same lines, we 
also wish to highlight Club 
Transelec that hosts re-
creational, sports and cul-
tural activities by matching 

employee contributions on a 
1+1 basis. 

As part of our plan to inte-
grate family members and 
the company, “Open Day” 
was held once again for the 
eighth year in a row in San-

tiago and in Chile’s regions. 
On this day Transelec opens 

its office doors so that our em-
ployees’ children can visit the place where their 
parents work and see how they contribute to the 
company.

In addition, our Christmas 

party has become some-

thing of a tradition, brin-

ging together workers and 

and their families.
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OUR STAFF

Transelec’s staff came to 538 workers as of 31 December 

2018. Over 96% of these workers are technically or pro-

fessionally specialized, proving that the Company is highly 

knowledge intensive, in line with the service quality it re-

quires. 75.7% of the Company’s staff is employed in Opera-

tions, Engineering and Project Development.

In terms of diversity at Transelec, we wish to highlight that 

one woman works at the Senior Management and reports 

level, while 19% of our staff are women (98). The following 

Note: does not include personnel for works

The age range for women is 
between 41 and 50.

The seniority range for women 
is between 9 and 12 years.

graphs and figures indicate employee distribution by natio-

nality, age and seniority at the Company.

II) DISTRIBUTION BY AGE

III) DISTRIBUTION BY SENIORITY

a. Senior Management
and reports

a. Senior Management
and reports

Persons by Age (Men)

Persons by Seniority
(Men)

Persons by Seniority
(Men)

Persons by Age (Women)Persons by Age (Men)

b. Organization

b. Organization

Staff Distribution (%)

EXECUTIVES

BETWEEN 41 AND 50 YEARS

MANAGERS / SUBMANAGERS

BETWEEN 51 AND 60 YEARS 

PROFESSIONALS

4 24

8

18

5
48

TECHNICIANS
ADMINISTRATIVE

Persons by Seniority
(Women)

I) NATIONALITY
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IV) SALARY GAP

The following figure indicates the salary gap between men 

and women as percentage rates. The salary gap is determined 

based on average gross salary for women compared to men 

(AGS for Women / AGS for Men).

139% 90%

91% 100%

97% 111%

Administrative 
Worker

Analyst

Manager/
Assistant 
Manager

Engineer

Supervisor

Technician

LABOR RELATIONS AND
ORGANIZATIONAL CLIMATE

Transelec has been working to continue empowering good 

labor relations in 2018. The company has been given se-

veral awards in this category over recent years. The main 

thrust of this work is the company’s open house policy with 

its two unions. This is evidenced by regular meetings ad-

dressing different labor issues that have helped to build a 

relationship of trust between the two parties.

The Company successfully reached an agreement in the 

month of June regarding a new Collective Contract with the 

Transelec S.A. Workers Union, SITRAT. This union accounts 

for 67.1% of all union membership at the Company. The 

process was executed in keeping with the terms indicated 

in the Labor Code and was closed with a agreement for the 

maximum legal term of 3 years to the satisfaction of the 

parties involved.

The fifth Organizational Health Index (OHI) survey was con-

ducted in the month of October. This survey measures nine 

key dimensions at an organization, such as working climate 

and leadership. Over the years this survey has evidenced 

positive development for each of these factors. This year 

we scored 80 points on the survey, positioning our company 

in the upper decile for this evaluation at a global level.

This excellent news shows that the work we have been 

doing in recent years has been productive. We have grown 

substantially and the Leadership Program developed by our 

Company, together with the role of communications in the 

development of organizational culture, have been essential 

for this achievement.

Our “Adding Energies” Diversity and Inclusion Program was 

implemented in 2018. We are pleased to announce that the 

1% of personnel required by Law 21,015 have already been hi-

red. In addition, we have executed different activities such as 

launching Diversity and Inclusion Principles at Transelec. This 

document promotes a labor inclusion and non-discrimination 

commitment for working teams, facilitating equal treatment 

and dignity for all kinds of diversity. Workshops designed to 

raise worker awareness were also hosted and physical spaces 

were modified in accordance with universal accessibility stan-

dards, among other activities.
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KNOWLEDGE MANAGEMENT

Training time came to 35,514 horas in 2018, amounting to a 

monthly average of 5.50 hours per worker. 96% of Transelec’s 

workers participated in training programs related to operat-

ing areas, management support, safety, engineering, innova-

tion, graduate degrees, languages and information technol-

ogy, among others. 

LEADERSHIP TRAINING CENTER

The Leadership Training Center was founded in 2014 and is 

backed by Universidad Adolfo Ibáñez. In 2018 the Center 

continued to develop competencies using a new format. This 

time the program addressed working teams with strategic 

initiatives for the Company, with the work focus placed on 

change management and the creation of agile high-perfor-

mance teams.

VICE-PRESIDENT SALARIES

Overall vice-president salaries at Transelec came to CLP 

5,135 million.

BONUS PLANS

Transelec personnel participate in a bonus program deter-

mined by meeting objectives aligned with the Company 

strategy and these are developed in accordance with the lev-

el of detail and responsibility in the Transelec hierarchy scale.

ORGANIZATIONAL CHART
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GENERAL MANAGER

Andrés Kuhlmann J.

ENGINEERING AND PROJECT 
DEVELOPMENT VICE-PRESIDENCY

Alexandros Semertzakis P.

FINANCE VICE-PRESIDENCY

Francisco Castro C.

OPERATIONS
VICE-PRESIDENCY

Rodrigo López V.

SALES AND BUSINESS
DEVELOPMENT VICE-PRESIDENCY

Eric Ahumada G.

HUMAN RESOURCES 
VICE-PRESIDENCY

Claudio Aravena V.

LEGAL AFFAIRS
VICE-PRESIDENCY

Arturo Le Blanc C.

CORPORATE AFFAIRS AND 
SUSTAINABILITY-PRESIDENCY

David Noe S.
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DEBT SERVICE RESERVE

Starting in December 2006, Transelec has had a debt service 

reserve required for bond issuing contracts in order to make 

restricted payment (according to the definition of these in 

debt contracts). This debt service reserve considers each of 

the Company’s public debts and benefits all bondholders, 

both local (D, H, K, M, N and Q bonds) and international (144A 

bonds issued in 2013, 2014 and 2016). This reserve goes as 

high as the amount of interest and main principal amortiza-

tion –with the exception of final payment– corresponding to 

a six-month period for the aforementioned bonds in which 

the Bank of New York acts as Trustee. As of December 2018, 

the debt service reserve account came to US$ 50,000,000, 

which further strengthens the company’s liquidity position.

MAIN FINANCE ACTIVITIES

Brookfield Asset Management (BAM) completed the sale of 

its interest in Transelec to China Southern Power Grid In-

ternational (CSGI) on March 15, 2018. CSGI now owns the 

27.79% indirect interest in Transelec S.A.. The other three in-

direct shareholders remain unchanged (Canada Pension Plan 

(CPP), BCI and Public Sector Pension Investment (PSP). 

On August 3, 2018, Transelec paid off a loan from Banco BCI 

amounting to CLP$ 20,000,000,00. The Company obtained 

said loan on August 3, 2017. These funds were mainly used 

to finance pre-payment of a debt held by the Transmisión del 

Melado SpA subsidiary.

CONSOLIDATING TIES WITH OUR INVESTORS

One of Transelec’s main objectives is to ensure constant ac-

cess to capital markets and banks in order to secure funds 

for developing projects and making purchases that have 

been determined. The ongoing confidence of the company’s 

investors is therefore essential in order to sign deals that will 

further Transelec’s development.

Ongoing relations with debt investors consist of direct com-

munication and quarterly reporting of the company’s finan-

cial results. 

Transelec is a company that has committed to ongoing con-

tact with local and international investors. Likewise, it main-

tains close and trusting relationships with different financial 

institutions, risk classification agencies, among other insti-

tutions that support the financing of the Company.

RISK RATINGS

In late 2018, Humphrey’s improved its risk rating for Transe-

lec to “AA” with a stable outlook, ratifying the strengths of 

incoming flows, financial flexibility, the business and regula-

tory framework.

During 2018, the rest of the Company’s risk ratings were rat-

ified in 2018, recognizing good results in recent years and 

Transelec’s financial stability. 

CURRENT PUBLIC DEBT

06 FINANCE

Company debt as of 31 December 2018 is broken down as 

follows:

Total debt in US dollars is naturally covered by the company’s 

assets in that currency and by principal-only swap contracts, 

thus covering 100% of the balance.

DEBT PERCENTAGE
BY CURRENCY

UF
USD
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AVAILABLE REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY

In order to ensure that funds are available in order to cover 

working capital requirements, fixed asset investment project 

financing (projects currently underway and potential pro-

jects), procure power transmission lines and possible debt 

refinancing, the company has the following unsecured revolv-

ing credit facility, completely undrawn at the end of  2018  

according to the following conditions:

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

LIQUIDITY

Considering positive results in 2018, Transelec has a solid 

liquidity level, together with the following:

a) An available revolving credit facility.

b) Partial reinvestment of its own cash generation, which will 

enable the company to finance its future plans to invest in 

new power transmission assets,

 

c) An available debt service reserve,

d) The firm commitment of its shareholders to invest or rein-

vest in the Company when necessary.

OPERATING INCOME IN 2018

The Company has two main sources of income generation:

a) Regulated income from services provided by assets be-

longing to the national power transmission systems and the 

zonal systems.

b) Contractual revenue stipulated in bilateral contracts which 

consider exclusive transmission assets, among others.  

Transelec’s properly secured revenue structure and take-or-

pay, market conditions, legislation, current regulatory fra-

mework, customer quality and solvency have ensured stable 

results for the Company throughout the years.

Stable costs over the years, which mainly consist of person-

nel and maintenance, ensure an Ebitda margin that is cons-

tantly higher than 80%.
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RISK FACTORS

Due to the characteristics of the Chilean electricity market 

and strict standards regulating the sector, Transelec S.A. is 

not exposed to substantial risk in the course of operating 

its main line of business. However, the following risk factors 

should be mentioned and taken into consideration:

THE REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

Power transmission tariffs are set by operators and include 

readjustments in order to guarantee actual annual profita-

bility for operators. The nature of this industry means that 

power transmission company revenue is stable over the long 

term. This revenue is complemented by revenue from private 

contracts with large customers.

However, the fact that these tariffs are revised once every 

four years in the National and Zonal Power Transmission 

Studies could mean new tariffs that could be detrimental 

or less attractive for the Company in terms of investment 

made.

LIQUIDATION OF NATIONAL AND ZONAL REVENUE 

According to the provisions of temporary Article twenty-five 

of the General Electricity Services Law “LGSE”, the collection, 

payment and remuneration regime specified in the standards 

that the new Law N° 20.936/2016 abolished are to be ap-

plied between the period starting 20 July 2016, which cor-

responds to the entry into force of the new Law N° 20,936, 

and ending 31 December 2018. This is to say that the for-

mer regime established in Law Nº 19.940/2004 (Short Law 

I) will continue to be applied. By virtue of the above, Transe-

lec is entitled to the collection procedure set out in Ministry 

of Energy Supreme Decree N° 23 T/2016. Transelec annually 

collects Annual Transmission Value by Section for its existing 

national facilities, for which it receives monthly tolls from 

each section and temporarily receives actual tariff revenue 

that is subsequently reliquidated compared to estimated tar-

iff revenue.

The Company could face the risk of failing to collect revenue 

in a timely manner from any of the companies owning power 

generation assets established in the CDEC payment charts, 

which could temporarily affect the Company’s liquidity sta-

tus. In this sense and in the Company’s opinion, work exe-

cuted by Transelec in terms of the aforementioned collection 

does not consist of collection management of its own, but is 

rather the mere collection and transfer of absolutely external 

appraised surplus and deficit revenue, with the exception of 

estimated tariff revenue.

Up until 2017, Transelec received a proportion of the overall 

revenue produced by each Zonal Transmission System. This 

revenue was generated by the application of unitary tariffs 

(CLP/kWh) set by the tariff decree regarding power with-

drawn from each system. Power plant payment excluded in 

accordance with the new legislation will not be covered nor 

absorbed by the rest of the Zonal Transmission System us-

ers. The proportion received by each company owning zonal 

facilities in the system corresponds to the proportion be-

tween asset valuation and total system assets valuation. 

In addition, payment is made for the power loss differential 

between actual power losses and those considered in tariffs, 

an amount that can be positive or negative depending on 

system operation each month. 

The main risk associated to zonal revenue stems from even-

tual differences that may arise between actual power de-

mand in each system and demand estimated for setting 

tariffs throughout the tariff period. Starting 1 January 2018, 

and according to the 2016 Power Transmission Law, zonal 

revenue will not depend on the volume transmitted but rath-

er on available assets in the system and installed capacity, as 

is the case with the national system.

SINGLE CUSTOMER REVENUE CONCENTRATION 

34% of Transelec’s revenue comes from a single customer, 

Enel Generación Chile S.A., and its power generation subsid-

iaries. Transmission tolls to be paid by Enel and its subsidi-

aries will generate most of Transelec’s future cash flow and 

any substantial change made to its business model, financial 

status or operating income could be detrimental for Transe-

lec.

RENEGOTIATION OF BILATERAL CONTRACTS

FOR EXCLUSIVE (ADDITIONAL) FACILITIES

Revenue generated by certain exclusive (additional) facilities 

stems from long-term contracts. Once these contracts have 

expired, a condition renegotiation process must be executed. 

This includes new payment and tariff terms, as well as the 

determination of which transmission services will continue 

to be provided. Therefore, we cannot guarantee that the eco-

nomic terms will remain in force once the renegotiation pro-

cess has concluded.

INCREASING COMPETITION IN

THE POWER TRANSMISSION MARKET

Chile’s power transmission industry is becoming increasingly 

competitive. We believe that this trend will continue over 

the short term and that we will face increased competition 

during tendering processes. This could mean the loss of new 

projects and transmission network upgrades, which would 

reduce our market share and could also hamper the growth 

of our estimated operating results in the future.
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OPERATING RISKS

Although Transelec administration believes the company 

will continue to hedge its risks appropriately in keep-

ing with industry practices, there is no guarantee that 

preventive actions and mitigations implemented (as-

set management, security strip management, insurance 

policies, etc.) will be enough to cover certain operating 

risks, including the forces of nature, damage to trans-

mission facil ities, work-related accidents and equipment 

failure.

LABOR CONFLICTS

Delays, suspensions or other labor conflicts affecting 

Transelec could have an adverse material effect on the 

corporation’s business, financial conditions, operating 

income and expectations. Approximately 74.2% of the 

Transelec workforce belongs to one of its two unions and 

is covered by collective agreements, which expire in 2020 

and 2021. Although Transelec’s administration believes 

that current labor relations evidence mutual collaboration 

between the company and its workers, there is no guaran-

tee that strikes, delays or suspensions will not occur prior 

to or at the time the current group contracts expire, which 

may lead to subsequent arbitration. Management cannot 

predict the effect of these events on Transelec operations. 

Finally, Transelec S.A. is included on the “Strategic Compa-

nies” list, implying that the Company’s workers cannot go 

on strike in compliance with the conditions established in 

the labor code.

FINES STEMMING FROM TRANSMISSION

SERVICE SUSPENSION

As of December 31, 2018, Transelec maintains four sanc-

tion proceedings pending before the Superintendency of 

Electricity and Fuels (SEC), as a result of charges made by 

said authority with respect to four forced disconnections in 

the electricity transmission service. In three of them, the 

SEC imposed fines for a total of seven thousand four hun-

dred Monthly Tax Units, with respect to which Transelec filed 

claims of illegality and whose processes are not yet closed. 

In the remaining sanction process, the resolution by the SEC 

is pending.

ENVIRONMENTAL INSTITUTIONALISM AND THE APPLICATION 

OF ENVIRONMENTAL STANDARDS AND/OR POLICIES

Transelec projects are subject to Law N° 19,300/1994 on 

General Environmental Guidelines (“Environmental Law”) and 

its subsequent amendments.  Transelec may run the risk of 

environmental permit lobbying taking longer than expected, 

which would delay project construction and open the possi-

bility of fines being applied.

CONSTRUCTION DELAYS FOR NEW POWER

TRANSMISSION FACILITIES

Success of the upgrades and expansion program for 

the power transmission network will depend on several 

factors, including the cost and availabil ity of financing. 

Although Transelec has experience with large-scale pro-

jects, the construction of new facil ities could be ham-

pered by factors commonly associated with projects, 

including delays for the approval of regulatory author-

izations such as power concessions; lack of equipment, 

materials or labor, or price variation; adverse weather 

conditions; natural disasters or unforeseen circumstanc-

es or difficulties when it comes to taking out loans un-

der favorable conditions and at reasonable rates. Any 

of the aforementioned factors could lead to delays in 

the partial or total completion of the capital investment 

program, while increasing the cost of the projects con-

sidered in this program.

EXCHANGE RATE RISK

Depending on market fundamentals, specific financial char-

acteristics of the business and other considerations, when 

necessary Transelec has conducted hedging operations such 

as cross-currency swaps or currency forwards in order to set 

the underlying portion of Chilean pesos contained in its rev-

enue that will be invoiced in keeping with Chilean peso-US 

dollar parity and/or be used to cover asset and liability im-

balances.

However, there is no guarantee that Transelec will be totally 

protected by the fact that it holds exchange rate hedging 

contracts. In addition, cross-currency swaps and forwards 

bear credit risk for the counterpart, cash requirements at ma-

turity dates or recouponing clauses (if this is the case) and 

other associated risks.

In the event that debt is incurred in a currency other than the 

Transelec functional currency, this will be balanced with as-

sets in the same currency or a financial derivative to counter-

act exchange rate variation for this currency, thus eliminating 

exchange rate risk.

TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGES

As previously indicated, compensation for Transelec in-

vestment in power transmission facilities is obtained by 

means of an annual existing facility assessment (AIV) fee 

at market rates, which is regularly recalculated according 

to the process established in current regulations. If impor-

tant technological advances are made for equipment at 

Transelec facilities, this valuation could be lower and thus 

hamper overall recovery of investments made.

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk corresponding to accounts receivable stemming 

from power transmission activities has historically been very 

low due to the limited number of customers, their risk ratings 

and short collection time (less than 30 days).

However, revenue is highly concentrated in a few customers 

that will produce most of Transelec’s future cash flow. Any 

substantial change to these companies’ goods, financial sta-

tus and/or operating income could be detrimental for the 

Company.

LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk of the company not being able to 

meet a monetary requirement in cash or make debt payment 

upon maturity. Liquidity risk also includes the risk of not be-

ing able to liquidate assets at a reasonable price and in a 

timely manner.

The company is exposed to risks associated to its debt, in-

cluding the risk of refinancing debt upon maturity. These risks 

are mitigated by the use of long-term debt and the structure 

of debt maturity over time.

In order to ensure that the company is able to react quickly 

to investment opportunities and to pay its obligations upon 

maturity, Transelec had a fully available revolving credit line 

amounting to US$ 250 million as of 31 December 2018, in 

addition to the company’s cash surpluses and short-term 

accounts receivable. Moreover, Transelec has unused credit 

lines that have been approved by local banks.

INTEREST RATE RISK

Company assets are mainly long lasting fixed assets and in-

tangibles. Therefore, financial liabilities used to finance these 

assets mainly consist of long-term liabilities at fixed rates. 

In addition, current loans held by the Company with related 

companies are indicated in Chilean pesos, UF and US dollars 
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and feature a fixed interest rate that also helps to mitigate 

this risk.

INFLATION RISK

Although higher inflation in Chile could affect debt costs ex-

pressed in UF and consequently affect the company’s income 

from readjustable units, these impacts are partly mitigated 

by the company’s revenue, which is also partially adjusted 

according to local inflation variation by means of contract 

indexing formulas.

INSURANCE

Throughout the 2018 fiscal year, the company continued its 

policy of holding insurance policies to protect all of its fixed 

asset goods at substations owned by Transelec and its fixed 

asset goods at facilities owned by the third parties. This cov-

erage is provided by means of an industrial multi-risk poli-

cy that includes physical damage caused by fire, machinery 

breakdown, earthquakes and the forces of nature. Good in-

ternational construction practices and strict compliance with 

Chilean standards led Transelec to consider physical damage 

coverage for power transmission lines and towers unneces-

sary, except for some exceptions considered to be strategic 

and others involving contractual issues with customers.

With regard to sociopolitical risks, the company holds ter-

rorism insurance, which covers actions classified by law as 

terrorist actions. In addition, the company continues to hold 

civil responsibility and professional civil liability insurance. 

The latter covers eventual damage stemming from actions 

taken by the company’s engineers. Moreover, the company 

has continued to insure its vehicles and mobile equipment 

and an insurance policy was taken out to cover cabotage op-

erations and the international transport of equipment and 

materials. With regard to engineering projects, Transelec 

took out insurance policies to cover all construction, assem-

bly, civil liability and transport risks when required.

Finally, with regard to personal accidents, the company con-

tinues to hold insurance contracts for its workers to cover 

complementary health insurance, travel assistance and ser-

vice commissions, among others.

DIVIDENDS

2018 DIVIDEND POLICY

> During second quarter, a first interim distribution for an 

amount equal to the distributable net income accumulated up 

to March 31th of the current year, not exceeding 25% of the 

projected year-end distributable net income according to last 

available forecast;

> During third quarter, a second interim distribution for an 

amount equal to the distributable net income accumulated up 

to June 30th of the current year, less the amount distributed as 

first interim dividend. Aggregate payment of interim dividends 

must not exceed 50% of the projected year-end distributable 

net income according to last available forecast;

> During fourth quarter, a third interim distribution for an 

amount equal to the distributable net income accumulated up 

to September 30th of the current  year, less the amounts dis-

tributed as first and second interim dividend. Aggregate pay-

ment of interim dividends must not exceed 75% of the project-

ed year-end distributable net income according to last available 

forecast;

> Interim payments shall be subject to the limits defined in the 

paragraphs above, and calculated on the basis of the consoli-

dated financial statements at the end of each corresponding 

quarter;

> No later than 30 days after the Ordinary Shareholders Meeting 

for the approval of year-end financial statements, the remain-

ing previous year-end distributable audited net income amount 

shall be distributed as definitive dividend.

> Special Distributions to be executed when prudent, in 

amounts to be tailored and discussed on a case-by-case basis.

DIVIDENDS DISTRIBUTED IN 2018

Transelec has distributed the following dividends to its share-

holders in 2018:

> CLP 18,712,012,037 as the final dividend for the 2017 fis-

cal year, distributed 23 May 2018.

> CLP 19,404,000,000 as the first interim dividend for 2018, 

distributed 19 June 2018.

> CLP 20,483,000,000 as the second interim dividend for 

2018, distributed 25 September 2018.
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RELEVANT FACTS

1) In conformity with Article 9 and paragraph 2 of Stock 

Market Law N° 18,045 Article 10 and General Standard N° 

30 issued by the Securities and Insurance Commission, 

presently the Commission for the Financial Market, the fo-

llowing relevant fact was reported 2 March 2018, that Mr. 

José Ramón Valente announced his resignation from the 

position of director to the Chairman of the Transelec S.A. 

Board of Directors 1 March 2018.

2) In compliance with Article 9 and paragraph 2 of Stock 

Market Law N° 18,045 Article 10 and General Standard 

N° 30, the following relevant fact was reported 15 March 

2018, that at a special Transelec S.A. Board of Directors 

meeting held 15 March 2018, and in accordance with what 

was reported by means of a relevant fact 26 December 

2017, respective authorizations have been received from 

the Government of the People’s Republic of China. A sha-

re purchase transaction was consequently completed be-

tween BIP (Barbados) Holdings II Limited (“Brookfield”) 

and the company Coron Investments, S.L.U. (“CSGI”), by 

virtue of which CSGI became the owner of the 27.79% in-

terest in Transelec S.A. formerly owned by Brookfield.

3) In compliance with the provisions of Article 9 and the 

second paragraph of Stock Market Law Nº 18,045 Article 

10 , and the provisions of NCG N° 30, it was reported as a 

relevant fact 15 March 2018 that at a special Transelec S.A. 

Board of Directors meeting held 15 March 2018, the Tran-

selec S.A. Board of Directors acknowledged and accepted 

the resignation of Mr. Benjamin Vaughn from his position 

of the company’s Chairman and director, as well as the 

resignation of alternate director Mr. Jeffrey Rosenthal as 

of 15 March 2018. In addition, the Transelec S.A. Board of 

Directors acknowledged and accepted the resignation of 

Mr. Etienne Middleton from his position as the company’s 

deputy director as of 27 April 2018. Pursuant to the abo-

ve, at the same special Transelec S.A. Board of Directors 

meeting Han Rui was appointed as alternate director and 

Mrs. Brenda Eaton was appointed as Chair of the Board of 

Directors.

4) In compliance with the provisions of Article 9 and the 

second paragraph of Stock Market Law Nº 18,045 Article 10, 

the following relevant fact was reported 22 March 2018:

At a meeting held 21 March 2018, the Transelec S.A. Board 

of Directors agreed to announce the notice of a shareholders 

meeting 27 April 2018 in order to announce the following is-

sues to the shareholders and request their approval of these 

issues as a relevant fact:

1. The Annual Report, General Balance Sheet, Financial 

Statements and External Auditors Report correspon-

ding to the period ending 31 December 2017.

2. Final dividend distribution. In this regard, the Tran-

selec S.A. Board of Directors agreed to propose distri-

bution of a final dividend corresponding to the 2017 

fiscal year amounting to CLP 18,712,012,037 at the 

shareholders meeting. This dividend is to be paid in 

accordance with the terms and conditions agreed to 

at the meeting.

3. Board of Directors election.

4. Board of Directors and Audit Committee salaries.

5. Appointment of External Auditors.

6. Newspaper to be used for publishing the notice of 

a shareholder meeting.

7. Agreements reached by the Board of Directors re-

garding issues contained in Articles 146 and following 

of the Corporations Law.  

8. Other issues of interest for the corporation and for 

the competence of the Board of Directors.

5) In compliance with the provisions of Article 9 and the 

second paragraph of Stock Market Law Nº 18,045 Article 10 

and the provisions of NCG N° 30, the following was reported 

as a relevant fact 22 March 2018 that at a Transelec S.A. 

Board of Directors meeting held 21 de marzo de 2018, the 

Transelec S.A. Board of Directors acknowledged and accepted 

the resignation submitted by Mr. Bruno Philippi from his po-

sition as director at the company, which will come into effect 

as of 1 April 2018.

6) On 27 April 2018, in conformity with Article 9 and paragra-

ph 2 of Stock Market Law N° 18,045 Article 10 and General 

Standard N° 30 issued by the Securities and Insurance Com-

mission, presently the Commission for the Financial Market 

the following relevant fact was reported: that the annual 

shareholders meeting of the corporation was held 27 April 

2018 and the following matters were agreed to:

1. To approve the Annual Report, Balance Sheet, Fi-

nancial Statements and External Auditors Report co-

rresponding to the period ending 31 December 2017.

2. To approve distribution of a final dividend corres-

ponding to 2017 amounting to CLP 18,712,012,037 

to be paid 29 May 2018 to shareholders registered 

in the respective shareholders’ registry as of 23 May 

2018 (Form N° 1 on dividend distribution is attached 

in accordance with newsletter 660 in a relevant fact 

dated 27 April 2018).

3. It was agreed that the members of the Board of 

Directors were to be replaced and therefore the Board 

is now comprised as follows: Mrs. Brenda Eaton as 

director and Mr. Jordan Anderson as her respective 

deputy director, Mr. Rui Han as director and Mrs. Si-

hong Zhong as his respective deputy director; Mr. Paul 

Dufresne as director and Mr. Jean Daigneault as his 

respective deputy director; Mr. Alfredo Ergas Segal as 

director and Mr. Ricardo Szlejf as his respective deputy 

hirector; Mr. Mario Valcarce Durán as director and Mr. 

Patricio Leyton Flores as his respective deputy direc-

tor; Mr. Blas Tomic Errázuriz as director and Mr. Rodrigo  

Ferrada Celis as his respective deputy director; Mr. Ale-

jandro Jadresic Marinovic as director and Mrs. Valeria 

Ruz Hernández as his respective deputy director; Mr. 

Nicolás Ubilla Pareja as director and Mrs. Stella Muñoz 

Schiattino as his respective deputy director; and Mrs. 

Josefina Court Spikin as director and Mr. Mario Valde-

rrama Venegas as her respective deputy director.

4. Board of Directors and Audit Committee salaries 

were determined.

5. Approval of the appointment of the firm Deloitte as 

the corporation’s external auditors for the 2018 fiscal 

year.

6. Approval of Diario Financiero as the newspaper to 

be used for publishing notices of shareholders mee-

tings.

7. Agreements reached by the Board of Directors re-

garding matters contained in Corporations Law Article 

146 and following articles were reported. 

7) On 27 April 2018, in conformity with Article 9 and paragra-

ph 2 of Stock Market Law N° 18,045 Article 10 and General 

Standard N° 30 issued by the Securities and Insurance Com-

mission, presently the Commission for the Financial Market, 

it was reported as a relevant fact that a special shareholders 

meeting was held at the same date. Constitution of a joint 

and solidary guaranty for Transelec Concesiones S.A. obli-

gations for the indemnity agreement to be signed for the 

New 2x220 kV 1500 MW Transmission Line project between 

the Los Changos Substation and the Kapatur Substation, in 

conformity with the provisions of Article twenty-eight of the 

articles of incorporation and Article 57 of Corporations law 

N° 18,046.

8) On 23 May, in conformity with Article 9 and paragraph 2 of 

Stock Market Law N° 18,045 Article 10 and General Standard 

N° 30 issued by the Securities and Insurance Commission, 

presently the Commission for the Financial Market, it was 

reported as a relevant fact that at the Transelec S.A. Board 

of Directors meeting N° 170 held 23 May 2018, Mrs. Brenda 

Eaton was elected as the Chair of the Board of Directors.
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9) On 24 May, in conformity with Article 9 and paragraph 

2 of Stock Market Law N° 18,045 Article 10 and General 

Standard N° 30 issued by the Securities and Insurance 

Commission, presently the Commission for the Financial 

Market, it was reported as a relevant fact that at the cor-

poration’s Board of Directors meeting held 23 de mayo de 

2018, it was announced that distribution of a temporary 

dividend amounting to CLP 19,404,000,000 was to be 

taken from the 2018 fiscal year and paid 19 June 2018 

to shareholders registered in the respective shareholders’ 

registry as of 13 June 2018. This was done in conformity 

with the provisions of the Dividends Policy approved by 

the corporation’s Board of Directors and announced at the 

shareholders meeting held in the month of April 2015.

Form N° 1 on the distribution of dividends was attached in 

accordance with the aforementioned Newsletter.

10) In conformity with Article 9 and paragraph 2 of Stock 

Market Law N° 18,045 Article 10 and General Standard N° 

30 issued by the Securities and Insurance Commission, 

presently the Commission for the Financial Market, the 

following relevant fact was reported at the corporation’s 

Board of Directors meeting held 22 August 2018: the Tran-

selec S.A. Board of Directors acknowledged and accepted 

the resignation of Mr. Nicolás Ubilla Pareja from his posi-

tion as director at the company, as well as the resignation 

of alternate director Mrs. Stella Muñoz Schiattino. In addi-

tion, the Transelec S.A. Board of Directors acknowledged 

and accepted the resignation of Mrs. Josefina Court Spikin 

from her position as director at the company, as well as 

the resignation of alternate director Mr. Rodrigo Valderra-

ma Venegas.

Pursuant to the above, at the same Board of Directors mee-

ting, Mrs. Patricia Núñez Figueroa and Mr. Juan Ramón Bena-

barre Benaiges were appointed as alternate directors.

11) In conformity with Newsletter N° 660 issued by the In-

surance and Securities Commission, presently the Commis-

sion for the Financial Market, the following relevant fact was 

reported 23 August following the corporation’s Board of Di-

rectors meeting held 22 August 2018: distribution of a tem-

porary dividend to be taken from the 2018 fiscal year amoun-

ting to CLP 20,483,000,000. The dividend was to be paid 25 

September 2018 to shareholders registered in the respective 

shareholders’ registry as of 15 September 2018. This was 

done in conformity with the provisions of the Dividends Poli-

cy approved by the corporation’s Board of Directors and was 

reported at the Shareholders Meeting  held in the month of 

April 2015.

Form N° 1 on the distribution of dividends was attached in 

accordance with the aforementioned Newsletter.
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Transelec S.A. is an open stock corporation founded for an 

indefinite period that was originally founded as a limited 

liability company with the firm name “Rentas Eléctricas III 

Limitada”, by public deed dated 6 June 2006 granted at the 

Santiago Notary Office owned by Ms. María Gloria Acharán 

Toledo. The extract corresponding to its incorporation is in-

scribed in sheet 22,031, N°15,264 of the Santiago Real Es-

tate Registrar Commercial Registry corresponding to the year 

2006, and was published in the Official Gazette N°38,485 

dated 9 June 2006.  

The assignment of rights and actions for the corporation 

was executed by means of a public deed dated 15 June 2006 

granted at the Santiago Notary Office owned by Ms. María 

Gloria Acharán Toledo, with the corporations Rentas Eléctri-

cas I Limitada and Rentas Eléctricas II Limitada established 

as partners. In addition, the corporation’s share capital was 

increased and its administration was changed. The extract 

corresponding to this corporate modification is inscribed in 

sheet 25,168, N°17,510 of the Santiago Real Estate Regis-

trar Commercial Registry corresponding to the year 2006, 

and was published in the Official Gazette N°38.501 dated 

30 June 2006. The aforementioned amendment extract in-

scribed in sheet 28,355, N°19,800 of the Santiago Real Es-

tate Registrar Commercial Registry corresponding to the year 

2006 was corrected and published in the Official Gazette 

N°38,518 dated 20 July 2006. 

The corporation’s share capital was increased by means of 

a public deed dated 11 December 2006 granted at the San-

tiago Notary Office owned by Ms. María Gloria Acharán Tole-

do. An extract of this deed was inscribed  in sheet 53,096, 

N°37,999 of the Santiago Real Estate Registrar Commercial 

Registry corresponding to the year 2006, and was published 

in the Official Gazette N°38,650 dated 29 December 2006.

A public deed dated 26 March 2007 granted at the Santia-

go Notary Office owned by Ms. María Gloria Acharán Toledo 

recorded that the corporation became an open stock corpo-

ration with the firm name “Rentas Eléctricas III S.A.”. The 

extract corresponding to the corporation’s transformation 

is inscribed in page 12,696, N° 9,344, of the Santiago Real 

Estate Registrar Commercial Registry corresponding to 2007 

and was published in the Official Gazette N°38,727 dated 30 

March 2007.

It was agreed at the company’s first special shareholders 

meeting held 24 April 2007 that the company would be in-

corporated as an open stock corporation by means of the 

voluntary registration of the company and its shares in the 

Securities Registry of the Securities and Insurance Commis-

sion. The minutes of this first special shareholders meeting 

were reduced to a document of public record dated 25 April 

2007.  

In June 2007, Rentas Eléctricas III S.A. took over Transelec 

S.A., tax list number N°76.555.430-6, as stated in a public 

deed dated 30 June 2007 granted at the Santiago Notary Of-

fice owned by Ms. María Gloria Acharán Toledo, an extract of 

which was inscribed in sheet 27,509, N°19,936 correspond-

ing to the year 2007 and was published in the Official Ga-

zette N°38,812 dated 13 July 2007.

It was agreed at the second special shareholders meeting 

held 30 June 2007 that the company’s corporate bylaws 

would be changed. The firm name was changed to “Transelec 

S.A.” and a new Board of Directors was elected. The minutes 

of this second special shareholders meeting were reduced to 

a document of public record dated 30 June 2007 at the San-

tiago Notary Office owned by Ms. María Gloria Acharán Tole-

do. An extract of this reform was inscribed in sheet 27,530, 

N°19.941 dated 2007 of the Santiago Real Estate Registrar 

Commercial Registry and was published in the Official Ga-

zette N°38,812 dated 13 July 2007. 

It was agreed at the company’s tenth special shareholders 

meeting held 24 May 2011 that price level restatement cor-

responding to the year 2009 would be capitalized. This came 

to CLP 19,732,724,601 following amendment of the corpo-

rate bylaws that increased the company’s share capital. The 

minutes of this tenth special shareholders meeting were re-

duced to a document of public record dated 6 June 2011 at 

the Santiago Notary Office owned by Ms. María Gloria Acha-

rán Toledo. An extract of the reform was inscribed in sheet 

33,736, N°25,194 dated 2011 of the Santiago Real Estate 

Registrar Commercial Registry and was published in the Offi-

cial Gazette N°39,994 dated 24 June 2011. 

It was agreed at the eleventh special shareholders meet-

ing held 22 January 2014 that the corporation’s capital 

would be reduced by CLP 857,944,547,865, divided into 

1,000,000 ordinary nominative shares with no nominal 

value to CLP 776,355,047,865, divided into 1,000,000 or-

dinary nominative shares with no nominal value. This re-

duction was made considering the current stakes in the 

Corporation owned by shareholders, in such a way that 

the partner Rentas Eléctricas I Limitada would continue to 

own 100 shares amounting to CLP 77,635,505 and 0.01% 

of the corporation’s share capital, and that Transelec 

Holdings Rentas Limitada would continue to own 999,900 

shares amounting to CLP 776,277,412,360 and 99.99% of 

the corporation’s share capital, amending Article Five and 

the First Temporary Article of the corporate bylaws. The 

minutes for this meeting were reduced to a document of 

public record 30 January 2014, at the Santiago Notary Of-

fice owned by Ms. María Gloria Acharán Toledo, and an ex-

tract was inscribed in sheet 17,669 N° 11,117 dated 2014 

of the Santiago Real Estate Registrar Commercial Registry 

and was published in the Official Gazette N°40,811 dated 

19 March 2014. 

It was reported at the corporation’s twentieth special 

shareholders meeting held 23 January 2015 that takeover 

mergers would be executed with the corporations Trans-

misora Abenor Limitada, Transmisora Araucana de Elect-

ricidad Limitada and Transmisora Huepil Limitada by In-

versiones Eléctricas Transam Chile Limitada. In addition, 

it was agreed at this special shareholders meeting to ap-

prove the merger between the subsidiary Inversiones Eléc-

tricas Transam Chile Limitada and Transelec S.A., assigning 

the Corporation’s Board of Directors to announce when 

this merger would take place. Moreover, it was agreed at 

the company’s eighth shareholders meeting held 28 April 

2015 that in accordance with an official letter from the 

Securities and Insurance Commission that the purpose of 

said agreement was to approve the takeover merger of the 

subsidiary Inversiones Eléctricas Transam Chile Limitada 

by Transelec S.A., and to authorize the Corporation’s Board 

of Directors to determine the occasion and mechanism 

to be used in order to proceed with this takeover merger, 

which finally took place 31 August 2015.

THE CORPORATION’S
HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Transelec S.A., formerly Rentas Eléctricas III S.A., is the suc-

cessor of the following companies whose incorporation, firm 

name change, mergers or transformations are listed as fol-

lows:

TAKEOVER MERGER WITH COMPAÑÍA NACIONAL DE

TRANSMISIÓN ELÉCTRICA S.A. BY HQI TRANSELEC CHILE S.A.

A public deed of dissolution dated 30 January 2001, granted 

at the Notary Office owned by Mr. Fernando Opazo Larraín, 

reduced to a document of public records the fact that Com-

pañía Nacional de Transmisión Eléctrica S.A. was dissolved in 

virtue of Article 103 N°2 of Law 18,046 on Corporations be-

cause all of its shares were purchased by HQI Transelec Chile 

S.A., its successor. The extract was inscribed in page 4,662, 

N°3,720 of the Santiago Real Estate Registrar Commercial 

Registry dated 2001 and was published in the Official Ga-

zette dated 30 January 2001. This dissolution was reported 

at the 113th Board of Directors Meeting 30 January 2001 and 

was reduced to a document of public record at that same 

date at the Santiago Notary Office owned by Mr. Fernando 

Opazo Larraín.

FIRM NAME CHANGED FROM HQI TRANSELEC

CHILE S.A. TO TRANSELEC S.A.

A public deed dated 23 August 2006 granted at the Notary Of-

fice owned by Mr. Iván Tamargo Barros, reduced the minutes 

of the 8th HQI TRANSELEC CHILE S.A. Special Shareholders 

Meeting held 16 August 2006 to a document of public record, 

indicating that the firm name HQI TRANSELEC CHILE S.A., tax 

list number 77.498.870-K was changed to TRANSELEC S.A., 
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with the same tax list number. The extract was inscribed in 

page 34,753, N°24,453 of the Santiago Real Estate Registrar 

Commercial Registry dated 2006 and was published in the 

Official Gazette dated 23 August 2006.

TAKEOVER MERGER WITH TRANSELEC S.A.

BY NEW TRANSELEC S.A.

A public deed granted at the Notary Office owned by Mr. Iván 

Tamargo Barros 30 November 2006 reduced the minutes of 

the Transelec S.A. special Board of Directors meeting 101 

held 22 November 2006, declares dissolution following take-

over by the aforementioned corporation since its shares were 

now held by New Transelec S.A., tax list number 76.555.430-

6.The extract was inscribed in page 49,292, N°35,195, of the 

Santiago Real Estate Registrar Commercial Registry del year 

2006 and published in the Official Gazette dated 6 Decem-

ber 2006.

FIRM NAME CHANGED FROM NEW TRANSELEC S.A.

TO TRANSELEC S.A.

A public deed dated 30 November 2006, granted at the 

Notary Office owned by Ms. María Gloria Acharán Tole-

do, reduced the minutes of the corporation’s 3rd Special 

Shareholders Meeting to a document of public record, 

indicating that the firm name New Transelec S.A. was 

changed to Transelec S.A. The extract was inscribed in 

page 49,963, N°35,710, of the Santiago Real Estate Reg-

istrar Commercial Registry dated 2006, indicating that 

the firm name was changed and this was published in 

the Official Gazette dated 9 December 2006.

TAKEOVER MERGER WITH TRANSELEC S.A.

BY RENTAS ELÉCTRICAS III S.A.

A public deed dated 30 June 2007 granted at the San-

tiago Notary Office owned by Ms. María Gloria Acharán 

Toledo reduced the minutes of the 16th Transelec S.A. 

Special Board of Directors Meeting dated 6 June 2007 to 

a document of public record, indicating a takeover merg-

er with Transelec S.A., tax l ist number 76.555.430-6 by 

Rentas Eléctricas III S.A., tax l ist number 76.555.400-

4, which purchased all of the corporation’s shares. The 

extract was inscribed in page 27,509, N°19,936 of the 

Santiago Real Estate Registrar Commercial Registry dat-

ed 2007 and was published in the Official Gazette dated 

13 July 2007. A public deed dated 30 June 2007 granted 

at the Santiago Notary Office owned by Ms. María Gloria 

Acharán T. reduced the minutes of the 5th Rentas Eléc-

tricas III S.A. Special Board of Directors meeting held on 

the same date to a document of public record, indicating 

the takeover merger with Transelec S.A., tax l ist number 

76.555.430-6 by Rentas Eléctricas III S.A., tax l ist num-

ber 76.555.400-4, which purchased all of the corpora-

tion’s shares. Rentas Eléctricas III S.A. declares that is 

the legal successor of Transelec S.A., assuming all of its 

rights and obligations, and declares that it is jointly and 

severally responsible for any taxes that it currently owes 

or may owe.

FIRM NAME CHANGED FROM RENTAS

ELÉCTRICAS III S.A. TO TRANSELEC S.A.

A public deed dated 30 June 2007, granted at the Santiago 

Notary Office owned by Ms. María Gloria Acharán Toledo, re-

duced the minutes of the Rentas Eléctricas III S.A. Second 

Special Shareholders Meeting dated 30 June 2007 to a docu-

ment of public record, stating that the name of Rentas Eléc-

tricas III S.A. was changed to Transelec S.A. The extract was 

inscribed in page 27,530, Nº 19,941 of the Santiago Real 

Estate Registrar Commercial Registry dated 2007 and was 

published in the Official Gazette dated 13 July 2007.

TRANSELEC NORTE S.A. TAKEVOER

MERGER WITH TRANSELEC S.A.

A public deed dated 4 December 2014 granted at the San-

tiago Notary Office owned by Ms. María Gloria Acharán To-

ledo reduced the minutes of the Transelec Norte S.A. 131st 

Special Board of Directors Meeting dated 26 November 

2014 to a document of public record and constituted the 

takeover merger with Transelec Norte S.A., tax list number 

99.521.950 by Transelec S.A., tax list number 76.555.400-4, 

which purchased all of the corporation’s shares. The extract 

was inscribed in page 94.440, Nº 57.701 of the Santiago 

Real Estate Registrar Commercial Registry dated 2014 and 

was published in the Official Gazette 31 December 2014. 

A public deed dated 27 November 2014 granted at the 

Santiago Notary Office owned by Ms. María Gloria Acha-

rán Toledo reduced the minutes of the Transelec Norte S.A. 

116th Special Board of Directors Meeting dated 26 Novem-

ber 2014 to a document of public record, constituting the 

takeover merger with Transelec Norte S.A., tax list number 

99.521.950 by Transelec S.A., tax list number 76.555.400-

4, which purchased all of the corporation’s shares. Transe-

lec S.A. declares that is the legal successor of Transelec 

Norte S.A., assuming all of its rights and obligations, and 

declares that it is jointly and severally responsible for any 

taxes owed or that may be owed.

TRANSELEC S.A. TAKEOVER MERGER WITH

INVERSIONES ELÉCTRICAS TRANSAM CHILE LIMITADA

A public deed dated 31 August 2015 granted at the Santiago 

Notary Office owned by Mr. Raúl Undurraga Laso constituted 

the takeover merger with Eléctricas Transam Chile Limitada, 

tax list number 76.384.810-8 by Transelec S.A., tax list num-

ber 76.555.400-4, which purchased all of the corporation’s 

shares. The extract was inscribed in page 71,421, Nº 41,726 

of the Santiago Real Estate Registrar Commercial Registry 

dated 30 September 2015.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors and the Shareholders of
Transelec S.A.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Transelec S.A. and its 
subsidiary (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as of 
December 31, 2018, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in 
equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Information

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). This responsibility includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audit. We performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Chile.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit includes performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making, those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the entity's consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not
express such opinion. An audit also includes assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of the significant estimates made by the Company's Management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence that we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Deloitte  
Auditores y Consultores Limitada 
Rosario Norte 407 
Rut: 80.276.200-3 
Las Condes, Santiago 
Chile 
Fono: (56) 227 297 000 
Fax: (56) 223 749 177 
deloittechile@deloitte.com 
www.deloitte.cl 

Deloitte® se refiere a Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited una compañía privada limitada por garantía, de Reino Unido, y a su red de firmas miembro, cada una de las cuales es una 
entidad legal separada e independiente. Por favor, vea en www.deloitte.com/cl/acercade la descripción detallada de la estructura legal de Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited y sus 
firmas miembro. 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited es una compañía privada limitada por garantía constituida en Inglaterra & Gales bajo el número 07271800, y su domicilio registrado: Hill House, 
1 Little New Street, London, EC4A 3TR, Reino Unido. 
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subsidiary (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as of 
December 31, 2018, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in 
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whether due to fraud or error. In making, those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the entity's consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not
express such opinion. An audit also includes assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of the significant estimates made by the Company's Management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence that we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Deloitte  
Auditores y Consultores Limitada 
Rosario Norte 407 
Rut: 80.276.200-3 
Las Condes, Santiago 
Chile 
Fono: (56) 227 297 000 
Fax: (56) 223 749 177 
deloittechile@deloitte.com 
www.deloitte.cl 

Deloitte® se refiere a Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited una compañía privada limitada por garantía, de Reino Unido, y a su red de firmas miembro, cada una de las cuales es una 
entidad legal separada e independiente. Por favor, vea en www.deloitte.com/cl/acercade la descripción detallada de la estructura legal de Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited y sus 
firmas miembro. 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited es una compañía privada limitada por garantía constituida en Inglaterra & Gales bajo el número 07271800, y su domicilio registrado: Hill House, 
1 Little New Street, London, EC4A 3TR, Reino Unido. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors and the Shareholders of
Transelec S.A.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Transelec S.A. and its 
subsidiary (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as of 
December 31, 2018, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in 
equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Information

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). This responsibility includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audit. We performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Chile.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit includes performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making, those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the entity's consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not
express such opinion. An audit also includes assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of the significant estimates made by the Company's Management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence that we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Deloitte  
Auditores y Consultores Limitada 
Rosario Norte 407 
Rut: 80.276.200-3 
Las Condes, Santiago 
Chile 
Fono: (56) 227 297 000 
Fax: (56) 223 749 177 
deloittechile@deloitte.com 
www.deloitte.cl 

Deloitte® se refiere a Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited una compañía privada limitada por garantía, de Reino Unido, y a su red de firmas miembro, cada una de las cuales es una 
entidad legal separada e independiente. Por favor, vea en www.deloitte.com/cl/acercade la descripción detallada de la estructura legal de Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited y sus 
firmas miembro. 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited es una compañía privada limitada por garantía constituida en Inglaterra & Gales bajo el número 07271800, y su domicilio registrado: Hill House, 
1 Little New Street, London, EC4A 3TR, Reino Unido. 

Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of Transelec S.A. and its subsidiary as of December 31, 2018, and the 
results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 
  
Other-matter - Consolidated Financial Information as of December 31, 2017 
 
The consolidated financial statements of Transelec S.A. and its subsidiary as of December 31, 2017, were 
audited by other auditors, whose report dated March 21, 2018, expressed an unmodified opinion on those 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
Other-matter – Translation into English 
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been translated into English solely for the 
convenience of Shareholder’s readers outside of Chile. 
 
 
 
 
Santiago, Chile 
Mach 21,  2019 
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TRANSELEC S.A. AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 

As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017
 (Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish-See Note 2.1)

The accompanying notes number 1 to 29 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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TRANSELEC S.A. AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 

As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017
 (Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish-See Note 2.1)

The accompanying notes number 1 to 29 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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TRANSELEC S.A. AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income by Function As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017

 (Expressed in thousands of Chilean pesos (ThCh$))
(Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish-See Note 2.1)
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TRANSELEC S.A. AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income by Function As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017

 (Expressed in thousands of Chilean pesos (ThCh$))
(Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish-See Note 2.1)
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The accompanying notes number 1 to 29 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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(Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish-See Note 2.1)
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TRANSELEC S.A. AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017

 (Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish-See Note 2.1)

NOTE 1 - GENERAL INFORMATION

Rentas Eléctricas III Limitada was formed as a limited liability company by public deed on June 6, 2006. According to public 

deed dated May 9, 2007, the Company acquired 100 shares owned by Transelec Holdings Rentas Limitada, corresponding to 

0.01% of the share capital of Transelec S.A. (formerly Nueva Transelec S.A.), leaving the Company with 100% ownership. Thus, 

the merger took place by absorption, and the assets, liabilities, rights and obligations of Transelec S.A. (formerly Nueva Transe-

lec S.A.) passed to the Company. In this way, the Company directly assumed operation of the electricity transmission business 

previously conducted by the aforementioned subsidiary. 

On March 26, 2007, it changed its name to Rentas Eléctricas III S.A. and became a corporation and June 30, 2007, Rentas Eléc-

tricas III S.A. changed its name to its current name, Transelec S.A. (here and after “the Company” or “Transelec”). 

On May 16, 2007, the Company was listed under number 974 in the Securities Registry of the Chilean Commission for the Fi-

nancial Market (ex Superintendence of Securities and Insurance (SVS)) and is subject to the supervision of the Commission. Si-

multaneously, it registered 1,000,000 shares, which corresponds to the total number of shares issued, subscribed and fully paid. 

On December 1, 2014, Transelec S.A., merged with its subsidiary Transelec Norte S.A. through an acquisition of 0.01% of the 

shares of Transelec Norte S.A. owned by Transelec Holdings Rentas Limitada, becoming the owner of the 100% shares.

On September 1, 2015, Transelec S.A merged with its subsidiary Inversiones Electricas Transam Chile Ltda., which on August 1, 

2015, had absorbed its subsidiaries: Transmisora Huepil Ltda, Transmisora Abenor Ltda y Transmisora Araucana de Electricidad 

Ltda. Through the acquisition of the investment complement which completes 100% of the ownership, in the merger processes 

mentioned above.

On March 31, 2017, Transelec S.A acquired 100% shares of the company Transmisión Del Melado SpA.; thus, taking control of 

this entity during April 2017. For this reason, Transelec S.A. changes from preparing the stand-alone financial statements as of 

December 31, 2016, to preparing consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2017.

The Company is domiciled at Orinoco No. 90, floor 14, Las Condes, Santiago, Chile. 

The Company has the exclusive objective of operating and developing electricity systems owned by the Company or by third 

parties designed to transport or transmit electricity and may, for these purposes, obtain, acquire and use the respective con-

cessions and permits and exercise all of the rights and powers that current legislation confers on electric companies. Its line of 

business includes: commercializing the transport capacity of lines and transformation capacity of substations and equipment 

associated with them so that generating plants, both Chilean and foreign, may transmit the electricity they produce to their 

consumption centers; providing engineering or management consulting services related to the company’s line of business; and 

developing other business and industrial activities to use electricity transmission facilities. The Company may act directly or 

through subsidiaries or affiliates, both in Chile and abroad. 
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NOTE 1 - GENERAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The Company is controlled directly by Transelec Holdings Rentas Limitada and indirectly by ETC Transmission Holdings S.L. 

As of January 16, 2018 the SVS was replaced by the Commission for the Financial Market (CMF).

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2018, were approved by the board at 

its meeting held on March 21, 2019.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 

The principal accounting policies applied in preparing the consolidated financial statements are detailed below. These policies 

have been based on IFRS in effect as of December 31, 2018 and applied uniformly for the periods presented. 

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

These Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Stan-

dards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), taking into account the presentation regulations 

of the SVS, which are not in conflict with IFRS.

These Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared from the accounting records maintained by the Company. The 

figures in these Consolidated Financial Statements and their notes are expressed in thousands of Chilean pesos.

For the convenience of the reader, these Financial Statements and their accompanying notes have been translated from Spanish 

to English. 

In preparing these Consolidated Financial Statements, certain critical accounting estimates have been used to quantify some 

assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Management was also required to exercise judgment in applying Transelec’s accounting 

policies. Areas involving a greater degree of judgment or complexity or areas in which assumptions and estimates are significant 

for these consolidated financial statements are described in Note 4. 

The information contained in these Consolidated Financial Statements is the responsibility of the Company’s management. 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements are consistent with those applied 

in the preparation of the annual Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2018, 

except for the adoption of new standards and interpretations in effect as of January 1, 2018, which did not materially affect 

the consolidated financial statements.
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TRANSELEC S.A. AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017

 (Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish-See Note 2.1)

08 F INANCIAL  STATEMENTS

The accompanying notes number 1 to 29 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



96

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONTINUED)

2.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company and its subsidiary, including 

all its assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and cash flows after carrying out the amendments and eliminations related to the 

transactions between the companies that form part of the consolidation.

A subsidiary is a company over which Transelec S.A. exercises control in accordance with IFRS 10. In order to comply with the 

definition of control according to IFRS 10, three criteria must be complied with, namely: (a) an investor has the power over the 

relevant activities of the investee, (b) the investor is exposed, or has rights to, variable returns from the share in the investee, (c) 

the investor has the ability to use its power over the investee to exercise influence over the amount of income of the investor. 

Non-controlling interest represents the amount of net assets and profit or loss that are not property of the Parent Company, 

which is presented separately in the comprehensive income statement and within equity in the consolidated statement of fi-

nancial situation.

Acquisition of a subsidiary is recorded in accordance with IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”, using the equity method. This 

method requires the recognition of identifiable assets (including intangible assets previously unrecognized and goodwill) and 

liabilities acquired at fair value on the acquisition date. Non-controlling interest is recognized by the portion owned by minority 

shareholders on the value of recognized assets and liabilities.

The excess of acquisition cost on the fair value of the share of the Company in the acquired identifiable net assets is recogni-

zed as goodwill. If the acquisition cost is less than the fair value of the net assets of the acquired subsidiary, the difference is 

recognized directly in the income statement.

The financial statements of the subsidiary have been prepared on the same date as those of the Parent Company and the ac-

counting policies have been applied uniformly, considering the specific nature of each business unit.

The information regarding the entity in which the Company has control and that forms part of the consolidation is detailed as 

follows:
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONTINUED)

2.3 NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ACCOUNTING

The following new standards, amendments and interpretations has been adopted in this Financial Statements:

Effects of the application of IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers and IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments are described in 

more details on note 2.17 and 2.9 respectively.

The standards and interpretations, as well as the improvements and amendments to IFRS, which have been issued but are not 

yet effective at the date of these consolidated financial statements, are detailed below. The Company has not adopted these 

standards in advance:
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TRANSELEC S.A. AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017

 (Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish-See Note 2.1)

New Standards 

IFRS 16 “Leases”

IFRS 16 was issued on January 2016 and supersedes IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a 

Lease, SIC 15 operating leases – incentives y SIC 27 evaluating the substance of transactions involving the legal form of a lease.

IFRS 16 stablishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosures for lease agreements and re-

quire that the lessee recognize all lease agreements under a similar manner as a finance lease according to IAS 17. The Standard 

includes two exemptions for the lessee: leases of low-value assets (i.e. PC) and short-term leases (i.e. leases with a lifetime of 

12 month or less). At the inception date of the lease agreement, the lessee shall recognize a liability for the lease and an asset 

for the lease which represents the right of use of the underlying asset during the lifetime of the lease agreement. Lessees shall 

recognize as separate effects the interest related to the liability for the lease and the amortization expense related to the asset 

for the right of use.

2.3 NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ACCOUNTING

Lessees shall re-measure the liability for lease when certain events occur (i.e. change on the clauses of the lease agreement, 

change in the future payments as a result of a change on an index or changes in the rate used to determine those payments). 

The lessee shall recognize the effect of the re-measurement of the liability for lease as an adjustment to the asset for the right 

of use.

The accounting for the lessor under IFRS 16 do not substantially change from the accounting under IAS 17. Lessors will continue 

classifying all lease agreements according to the classification principle stated in the IAS 17 and they should distingue between 

two types of leases: operating leases and finance leases.

Also, IFRS 16 requires to lessors and lessees to make more disclosures than those previously required by IAS 17.

IFRS 16 starts in appliance for periods starting on January 1st of 2019. A lessee may choose to apply the Standard using the 

full retrospective approach or a modified retrospective approach. The transition guidance in the Standard allows some simpli-

fications.

On 2018, the Company evaluated the adoption of IFRS 16 from the date when the Standard start applying, according to the 

evaluation of lease agreements the Company determines assets that, according to its nature and tenor, must be recorded at 

the initial application date as assets for the right of use, those assets are going to be amortized according to the lifetime of the 

contract or the useful life of the asset, whichever be lower. According to the mentioned evaluation, the Company identified an 

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONTINUED)
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asset for the right of use and its corresponding liability for lease (net) of $6.032.967.834 to be recorded onto its Consolidated 

Financial Statements.

IFRIC 23 UNCERTAINTY OVER INCOME TAX TREATMENTS 

In June 2017, the IASB issued an Interpretation on IFRIC 23, which clarifies the application of recognition and measurement 

requirements in IAS 12 Income Taxes when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. This interpretation is applicable for 

annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019.

The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this new standard could generate.

IFRS 17 INSURANCE POLICIES

In May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, a comprehensive new accounting standard for insurance contracts 

covering recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once effective, IFRS 17 will replace IFRS 4 Insurance Con-

tracts (IFRS 4) that was issued in 2005. The new standard applies to all types of insurance contracts, regardless of the type of 

entities that issue them.

IFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods starting on or after January 1, 2021, with comparative figures required. Early applica-

tion is permitted, provided the entity also applies IFRS 9 and IFRS 15.

The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this new standard could generate.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONTINUED)

2.3 NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ACCOUNTING (CONTINUED)
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TRANSELEC S.A. AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017

 (Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish-See Note 2.1)
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TRANSELEC S.A. AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017

 (Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish-See Note 2.1)

Enhancements and Modifications 

The enhancements and modifications, which have been issued but are not yet effective at the date of these consolidated finan-

cial statements, are detailed below. The Company has not adopted these standards in advance:

IFRS 3 “BUSINESS COMBINATIONS”

The amendments clarify that when an entity obtains control of an entity that is a joint operation, it applies the requirements for 

a business combination in stages, including interests previously held on the assets and liabilities of a joint operation presented 

at fair value. The amendments must be applied to business combinations carried out after January 1, 2019, Early application 

is allowed.

The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this modification could generate.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONTINUED)

2.3 NEW STANDARD AND INTERPRETATIONS ACCOUNTING (CONTINUED)
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TRANSELEC S.A. AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017

 (Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish-See Note 2.1)

IFRS 9 “FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – PREPAYMENT FEATURES WITH NEGATIVE COMPENSATION”

A debt instrument can be measured at amortized cost, cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, as long as the 

contractual cash flows are only payment of principal and interest on pending principal and the instrument is carried out within 

the business model for that classification. The amendments to IFRS 9 are intended to clarify that a financial asset complies 

with the criterion of only payment of principal plus interest regardless of the event or circumstance that causes the early ter-

mination of the contract or of which party pays or receives the reasonable compensation for early termination of the contract.

The amendments to IFRS 9 must be applied when the prepayment is similar to the unpaid amounts of capital and interest, in 

such a way that they reflect the change in the referential interest rate. This implies that prepayments at fair value or for an 

amount that includes the fair value of the cost of the associated hedging instrument, normally will satisfy the criterion of pay-

ment of principal plus interest only if other elements of the change in fair value, such as the effects of credit risk or liquidity, are 

not representative. Application will commence as of January 1, 2019 and is retrospective, Early adoption is allowed.

The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this modification could generate.

IFRS 11 “JOINT ARRANGEMENTS”

The amendment affects joint arrangements on interests previously held in a joint operation. A party that participates, but does 

not have joint control of a joint operation, could obtain control if the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business as 

defined in IFRS 3. The amendments clarify that interests previously held in that joint operation are not measured again at the 

time of the operation, The amendments must be applied to transactions in which joint control is acquired that are carried out 

after January 1, 2019, Early application is allowed.

The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this modification could generate,

IAS 12 “INCOME TAXES” 

The amendments clarify that income tax on dividends generated by financial instruments classified as equity is more directly 

associated to past transactions or events that generated distributable profits rather than to distributions to the owners. The-

refore, an entity recognizes the income tax on dividends in income, other comprehensive income or equity depending on where 

the entity originally recognized these transactions or past events. The amendments must be applied to dividends recognized 

after January 1, 2019.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONTINUED)

2.3 INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)
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The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this modification could generate.

IAS 19 “BENEFITS TO EMPLOYEES- MODIFICATION, REDUCTION OR LIQUIDATION OF THE PLAN”

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to IAS 19) specifies how companies determine pension expenses 

when changes to a defined benefit pension plan occur.

The amendments require a company to use the updated assumptions from this re-measurement to determine current service 

cost and net interest for the remainder of the reporting period after the change to the plan, The amendments specify that when 

a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement during the annual reporting occurs, the Entity should: 

> Determine the actual cost of services for the rest of the period after the plan amendment, curtailment or settle-

ment, using the actuarial assumptions used to measure the liability (asset) of the defined benefit plan, in a net basis, 

showing the benefits and assets of the plan after the event.

> Determine the net interest for the rest of the period after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement using: 

the liability (asset), net from the defined benefits, that shows the benefits and assets of the plan before the event; 

and the discount rate used to reassess the liability (asset) net for the defined benefit plan.

The amendments clarify that an Entity has to determine first any cost of past services, or a gain or loss in the settlement, wi-

thout considering the effect of the asset ceiling. This amount is recorded in the Profit or Loss, Then, an Entity has to determine 

the effect of the asset ceiling after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement, Any change in this effect, excluding the 

amount related to the net interest, has to be recorded into the Other Comprehensive Income.

This clarification set that the entities could recognize a cost of past service, or a result in the settlement that generate a de-

crease in a no recognized surplus, Changes in the asset ceiling effect won’t be offset with this effect.

The amendments are applicable to the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement and go into effect on January 1, 2019, Early 

adoption is permitted and it should be disclosed.

The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this modification could generate.

IAS 23 “BORROWING COSTS” 

The amendments clarify that an entity treats as general borrowings any indebtedness originally entered into to develop a quali-

fying asset when substantially all activities necessary to get that asset ready for use or sale are completed. Amendments must 
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be applied as of January 1, 2019.

The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this modification could generate.

IAS 28 “INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES”

The modifications clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 Financial Instruments for long-term investments in associates or joint 

ventures for those investments that do not apply the equity share method but that, in substance, form part of the net invest-

ment in the associate or joint venture. This clarification is relevant because it implies that the expected credit loss model, des-

cribed in IFRS 9, is applied to these interests in the long-term, Entities must apply the amendments retrospectively, with certain 

exceptions. They shall go into effect on January 1, 2019, and early adoption is permitted.

The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this modification could generate.

IAS 28 - “INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES”, IFRS 10 “CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS”

The amendments to IFRS 10 Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (2011) address an 

inconsistency recognized between the requirements of IFRS 10 and those of IAS 28 (2011) in the treatment of the sale or con-

tribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. Amendments issued in December 2014 establish that 

when the transaction involves a business (found in a subsidiary or not), a complete profit or loss is recognized. A partial profit or 

loss is recognized when the transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even when the assets are found in a 

subsidiary. The date of obligation application of these modifications is yet to be determined as the IASB is planning an in-depth 

investigation that may result in a simplification of the accounting of associates and joint ventures. Early adoption is permitted.

The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this modification could generate.

UPDATES OF REFERENCES TO THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

IASB issued a document called “Updates of references to the Conceptual Framework”, which includes the modification to the 

affected standards in order to make them to refer to the new Conceptual Framework. These modifications are effectives for 

annual periods starting on or after January 2020. Early adoption is permitted.

The Company did not identify any significant effect due to the application of this modification.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONTINUED)

2.3 INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

2.3.3 ENHANCEMENTS AND MODIFICATIONS (CONTINUED)
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONTINUED)

2.4 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

2.4.1 FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY 

The Company’s functional currency is the Chilean peso. These Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in Chilean pesos. 

2.4.2 TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 

Transactions carried out by each company in a currency other than its functional currency are recorded using the exchange rates 

in effect as of the date of each transaction. During the period, any differences that arise between the exchange rate recorded in 

accounting and the rate prevailing as of the date of collection or payment are recorded as exchange differences in the income 

statement. Likewise, as of each period end, balances receivable or payable in a currency other than each company’s functional 

currency are converted using the period-end exchange rate. Losses and gains in foreign currency arising from settling these 

transactions and from converting monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency using period-end exchange 

rates are recorded in the income statement, except when they should be deferred in equity, such as the case of cash flow. 

2.4.3 EXCHANGE RATES 

As of each year end, assets and liabilities in foreign currency and UF have been converted to Chilean pesos using the following 

exchange rates:
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2.5 FINANCIAL REPORTING BY OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Company manages its operations and presents information in the Consolidated Financial Statements based on a single 

operating segment, Electricity transmission. 

The source of the revenues that generates the company and its assets are located in Chile. 

2.6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are valued at acquisition cost, net of accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses it may 

have experienced, In addition to the price paid to acquire each item, the cost also includes, where appropriate, the following 

concepts: 

a) All costs directly related to placing the asset in the location and condition that enables it to be used in the manner 

intended by management. 

b) Borrowing costs incurred during the construction period that are directly attributable to the acquisition, cons-

truction or production of qualified assets, which require a substantial period of time before being ready for use are 

capitalized. The interest rate used is that of the specific financing or, if none exists, the average financing rate of the 

company carrying out the investment. 

c) Future disbursements that Transelec S.A. and its subsidiary must make to close their facilities are incorporated into 

the value of the asset at present value, recording the corresponding provision. On an annual basis both existences of 

such obligations as well as estimate of future disbursements are reviewed, increasing or decreasing the value of the 

asset based on the results of this estimate. 

Assets under construction are transferred to operating assets once the testing period has been completed when they are avai-

lable for use, at which time depreciation begins.

Expansion, modernization and improvement costs that represent an increase in productivity, capacity or efficiency or an exten-

sion of useful life are capitalized as a greater cost of the corresponding assets. Replacement or overhauls of whole components 

that increase the asset’s useful life, or its economic capacity, are recorded as an increase in value for the respective assets, 

derecognizing the replaced or overhauled components. Periodic maintenance, conservation and repair expenses are recorded 

directly in income as an expense for the period in which they are incurred.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONTINUED)
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Property, plant and equipment, net of its residual value, is depreciated by distributing the cost of its different components on a 

straight-line basis over its estimated useful life, which is the period during which the companies expect to use them. The useful 

lives and residual values of fixed assets are reviewed on a yearly basis. The land has an indefinite useful life and is not deprecia-

ted. The following table details the ranges of useful lives periods applied to principal classes of assets and used to determine 

depreciation expense:

The depreciation of these assets is recorded in the Statement of Income under the categories of Cost of Sales and Administra-

tive and Sales Expenses.

2.7 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2.7.1 GOODWILL 

Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost on the fair value of net assets acquired in a business combination. Goodwill 

is not amortized, it is annually tested for impairment, regardless if there is any indication of impairment. For impairment tes-

ting, goodwill acquired in a Business combination is assigned as of the acquisition date to the cash generation units that are 

expected to benefit from said combination.

During the periods covered by those Consolidated Financial Statements, there were no impairment losses of goodwill.

2.7.2 RIGHTS OF WAY 

Rights of way are presented at historical cost. These rights have no defined useful life and, therefore, are not amortized, Howe-

ver, these indefinite useful lives are reviewed during each reporting year to determine if they remain indefinite, These assets are 

tested for impairment at each year end and if there are indicator of impairment.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONTINUED)
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2.7.3 COMPUTER SOFTWARE 

Purchased software licenses are capitalized based on the costs incurred to purchase them and prepare them for use. These 

costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives that range from three to five years. 

Expenses for developing or maintaining computer software are expensed when incurred. Costs directly related to creating uni-

que, identifiable computer software controlled by the Company that is likely to generate economic benefits in excess of its 

costs during more than one year are recognized as intangible assets, and its amortization is included in the income statement 

under costs of sales and administrative expenses.

2.8 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Assets with an indefinite useful life, such as land and rights of way, are not amortized and are tested annually for impairment. 

Amortized assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an 

asset may not be recoverable. 

An impairment loss is recognized for the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use this being the present value of the 

expected future cash flows.

The Company has defined its only operating segment the Transmission of Electricity as a Cash Generating Unit (CGU) for the

purposes of impairment tests and, therefore, both goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life existing at the

date of the impairment test is completely assigned to this CGU.

The variable to which the value in use model is most sensitive is the discount rate, the main variables considered in the impair-

ment test are:
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Impairment losses from continuing operations are recognized in the income statement in the expenses categories in accordan-

ce with the function of the impaired assets.

Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment loss are reviewed at each reporting date for possible 

reversal of the impairment, in which case the reversal may not exceed the amount originally impaired less accumulated depre-

ciation. Reversals are included in the income statement.

Impairment of goodwill is not reversed.

Impairment testing of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives is performed at November 30 of each year.

2.9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A financial instrument is any contract that generates, at the same time, a financial asset in an Entity and a financial liability or 

an equity instrument in other Entity.

1) Non-derivatives Financial Assets

The Company classifies its non-derivatives financial assets into the following categories:

a) Amortized Cost:

In this category are classified the financial assets within the Business Model of the Company whose objective is to hold financial 

assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to 

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Non-derivatives financial assets that that accomplish with the conditions stated in IFRS 9 to be classified at amortized cost 

are: account receivables, loans granted and cash equivalents. These assets are recorded at amortized cost which is its initial fair 

value, minus the payments of principal, plus the non-collected accrued interests calculated according to the effective interest 

rate method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through 

the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to the amortized 

cost of a financial liability.

b) Fair value through other comprehensive income (Equity): 

In this category are classified the financial assets within the Business Model of the Company whose objective is achieved by 

both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONTINUED)
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specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

These financial assets are recognized into the Consolidated Financial Statement at its fair value when it can be feasible determi-

ned. Changes in its fair value, net of tax effect, are recorded into the Other Comprehensive Income Statement until those finan-

cial assets are derecognized which is the moment when the accumulated effect is recycle into the Profit or Loss of the period. 

If the fair value of the financial assets is lower than the acquisition cost, and if there is objective evidence that the financial 

assets has an impairment that is not reversible, the difference has to be recorded as a loss of the period.

c) Fair value through profit or loss

In this category are classified the financial assets that were defined as fair value through profit or loss at the moment of its 

initial recognition and those that are not classified as amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income.

These financial assets are measured in the Consolidated Financial Statement at its fair value and the changes on its fair value 

are recorded directly in profit or loss at the moment when they occurred, Purchases or sales of financial assets are recorded at 

the date of the transaction.

2) Cash and Cash Equivalent

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash, bank balances, time deposits and other highly-liquid, short-term investments that are 

readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. The balance of 

this account does not differ from that presented in the statement of cash flows. There is no restricted cash.

3) Impairment of Financial Assets

According to IFRS 9, the Company the impairment model based of expected credit losses. These model is used on the financial 

assets measured at amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, except for the investments in equity 

instruments. The Company uses a simplify scope for account receivables, contractual assets and account receivables for leasing 

in order to ensure that any impairment recorded is made in reference to the expected losses for all the life of the asset.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONTINUED)

2.9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

1) Non-derivatives Financial Assets (continued)
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4) Non-derivatives financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially recognized at its fair value; In the case of loans they also include the direct transactions costs. 

For its subsequent measurement, these liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. For 

the fair value of debt calculation, it has been performed using the discounted cash flows method according to the interest rate 

curves available in the market depending on the payment currency.

5) Derivatives and Hedge activities

The Company selectively uses derivative and non-derivative instruments, to manage its exposure to exchange rate risk (See 

Note 15). 

Derivatives instrument used by the Company are mainly related to hedge the interest rate/exchange rate risks. Derivatives ins-

truments are recorded at its fair value at the date of the transaction on the Consolidated Financial Statements. If the fair value 

of the derivative instrument is positive, it is recorded into the “Other financial assets” item and in case that the fair value of the 

derivative instrument is negative it is recorded into the “Other financial liabilities” item. Changes in the fair value of the deriva-

tive instruments are recorded into profit or loss unless the derivative had been designated as a hedge instrument and comply 

with all the requirement stated in IFRS 9 in order to use Hedge Accounting. Regarding to hedge accounting, the Company is still 

under the IAS 39 scope. The different types of hedge accounting that the Company perform are:

5.1) Fair value Hedge: Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in 

the income statement, along with any change in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that is attributable to the hedged 

risk. The Company has not used fair value hedges during the years presented. 

5.2) Cash Flow Hedge: Changes in the fair value of the effective portion of derivatives are recorded in equity account “Reserve 

for cash flow hedges”. The cumulative loss or gain in this account is transferred to the income statement to the extent that the 

underlying item impacts the income statement because of the hedged risk, netting the effect in the same income statement 

account. Gains or losses from the ineffective portion of the hedge are recorded directly in the income statement. A hedge is 

considered highly effective when changes in the fair value or the cash flows of the underlying item directly attributable to the 

hedged risk are offset by changes in the fair value or the cash flows of the hedging instrument, with effectiveness ranging from 

80% to 125%. 

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Company revokes the hedging relationship, the hedged item expires or is sold, ter-

minated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity is retained and 

is recognized when the forecasted transaction is ultimately recognized in the income statement.

5.3) Net Investment Hedge: Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for on a similar basis to cash flow 

hedges. Foreign currency translation originated by a net investment in a foreign entity and derived from the hedge transaction 
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should be registered in equity reserve (under “Other reserves” heading) until the investment’s disposal. Gains or losses relating 
to the ineffective portion are recognized immediately in the income statement in the line item “Other gains (losses)”.

As of December 2018 and December 2017, the Company does not have any Net Investment Hedge transaction on its records.

At the inception of the transaction, the Company documents the relationship existing between the hedge instruments and the 
hedged items, as well as its risk management objectives and its strategy for handling various hedge transactions. The Company 
also documents its assessment, both at inception and subsequently on an ongoing basis, of the effectiveness of the hedge 
instruments in offsetting movements in the fair values or cash flows of the hedged items. A derivative is presented as a non-cu-
rrent asset or liability if its maturity is greater than 12 months and it is not expected to be realized within 12 months. Other 
derivatives are presented as current assets or liabilities.

6) Embedded derivatives 

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments contracts or other contracts are treated as derivatives when their risks 
and characteristics are not closely related to the principal contracts and the principal contracts are not measured at fair value 
through profit and loss. In the case that they are not closely related, they are recorded separately, and any changes in value are 
recognized in the income statement. In the periods presented in these Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company did 
not identify any contracts that met the conditions for embedded derivatives. 

7) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets are derecognized when, and only when:

a) The contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or, the Company retains the contractual rights to 
receive the cash flows but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to one or more entities.

b) The entity transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or, if the entity neither trans-
fers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, the entity has lose control of the 
asset.

8) Compensation of financial assets and liabilities

The Company compensate financial assets and liabilities, presenting the net amount in its Consolidated Financial Statements, 
only when:

a) Exist a legal right to compensated both amounts; and

b) Exist the intention of settle the transaction on a net basis, or to collect the asset and pay the liability simultaneously.
These rights can only be legally enforceable during the normal course of the business, or in case insolvency, payment problems 

or bankruptcy, of any one or all of the parties involved in the transaction.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONTINUED)

2.10 INVENTORY 

Inventory is valued at acquisition cost using the weighted average price or net realizable value if this is lower.

2.11 PAID-IN CAPITAL

Paid-in capital is represented by one class of ordinary shares with one vote per share. Incremental costs directly attributable to 

new share issuances are presented in equity as a deduction, net of taxes, from issuance proceeds.

2.12 INCOME TAX AND DEFERRED TAXES 

The result for income tax for the year is determined as the sum of the current tax arising from the application of the tax rate 

on taxable income, after allowed deductions, plus the change in assets and liabilities for deferred tax and tax credits, both for 

tax losses and other deductions. 

Differences between the book value and tax base of assets and liabilities generate deferred tax asset and liability balances, 

which are calculated using tax rates expected to be in effect when the assets and liabilities are realized. 

Current taxes and changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities not from business combinations are recorded in income or in 

equity accounts in the statement of financial position, depending on where the gains or losses originating them were recorded.

Deferred tax assets and tax credits are recognized only when it is likely that there are future taxable profits sufficient enough 

against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of unused tax credit can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date consolidated financial statement and 

written off to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 

deferred income tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are 

recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered,.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all temporary differences, except those derived from the initial recognition of goodwill 

and those that arose from valuing investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly-controlled companies in which Transelec 

can control their reversal and where it is likely that they are not reversed in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset 

is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 

reporting date.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONTINUED)

2.13 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

2.13.1 STAFF SEVERANCE INDEMNITY 

The Company records liabilities for staff severance indemnity obligations based on collective and individual employment con-

tracts, payable when their employees cease to provide services. 

This benefit is recorded at nominal value.

The Company records liabilities for severance obligations personnel services for their employees, based on the provisions of 

the collective and individual staff contracts. If this benefit is contractual, the obligation is treated in the same way as defined 

benefit plans in accordance with IAS 19 and is recorded using the projected unit credit method. 

Defined benefit plans define the amount of the benefit that an employee will receive upon termination of employment, which 

usually depends on one or more factors such as the employee’s age, rotation, years of service and compensation. 

The liability recognized in the statement of financial position represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation 

plus/minus adjustments for unrecorded actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. The present value of the defined be-

nefit obligation is determined by discounting cash outflows estimated using as a reference BCU (rate of Chilean Central Bank 

bonds denominated in Unidades de Fomento) interest rates for terms similar to the maturity of the staff severance indemnity 

obligation. 

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognized in other 

comprehensive income.

2.13.2 PROFIT SHARING 

The Company recognizes a liability and an expense for profit sharing arrangements based on respective collective and individual 

contracts with its employees and executives, using a formula that takes into account the net income attributable to the Com-

pany’s shareholders after certain adjustments. Transelec recognizes a provision when it has a contractual obligation or when a 

past practice has created a constructive obligation of agreement to IAS 19. 
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2.14 PROVISIONS 

Provisions for environmental restoration, asset retirement, restructuring costs, onerous contracts, lawsuits and other contin-

gencies are recognized when: 

>The Company has a present obligation, whether legal or implicit, as a result of past events;

>It is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation;

>The amount can be reliably estimated.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditures required to settle the obliga-

tion. The discount rate used to determine the present value reflects current market assessments, as of the reporting date, of 

the time value of money, as well as the specific risk related to the particular liability, if appropriate. Increases in provisions due 

to the passage of time are recognized in interest expense. 

As of the date of issuance of these Consolidated Financial Statements, Transelec have no obligation to establish provision for 

environmental restoration and similar expenses. 

2.15 CLASSIFICATION OF CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT BALANCES 

In the statement of financial position, balances are classified based on maturity i.e., current balances mature in no more than 

twelve months and non-current balances in more than twelve months. 

Should the Company have any obligations that mature in less than twelve months but can be refinanced over the long term at 

the Company’s discretion, through unconditionally available credit agreements with long-term maturities, such obligations may 

be classified as non-current liabilities. 

2.16 REVENUE RECOGNITION 

The regulatory framework that governs electrical transmission activity in Chile comes from the by - Law of the Electric Services 

dated 1982 (DFL (M) No. 1/82), and subsequent amendments thereto, including Law 19.940 (called also the “Short Law”) enac-

ted on March 13, 2004, Law 20,018 (“Short Law II”), enacted on May 19, 2005 and Law 20,257 (Generation with Non-Conven-

tional Renewable Sources of Energy), enacted on April 1, 2008. These are complemented by the by - Law of the Electric Services 

Regulations dated 1997 (Supreme Decree No. 327/97 of the Mining Ministry), and its amendments, and by the Technical Stan-

dard for Liability and Quality of Service (R.M.EXTA No. 40 dated May 16, 2005) and subsequent amendments thereto. On July 

11, 2016, the new Transmission Law was enacted, which creates an Independent Coordinating entity of the National Electrical 

System (NES), called National Electrical Coordinator (CEN, according to the Spanish acronym), which groups the previous DEC 

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONTINUED)
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SIC and CDEC SING; in addition, it establishes a new Electrical Transmission System in which the trunk transmission system, the 

sub transmission system and additional systems now form part of National, Zone and Committed.

Transmission System, respectively. To the remuneration received from the transmitter, a variable discount rate will be applied 

with a minimum of 7% and a maximum of 10% after taxes. The las enters into effect immediately and gradually until its full 

application as of 2020.

Company’s revenues are generated by the remuneration from customers for the use of its transmission facilities. The Company 

has two types of contracts with customers: regulated and contractual. The first one is subject to regulatory rates while the se-

cond one is related to contractual agreements with the user of the transmission facilities. 

The total revenues for the use of the transmission facilities for both regulated and contractual arrangements includes in general 

two components: i) the AVI, which is the annuity of the Investment Value (VI), calculated in such a way that the present value 

of these annuities, using an annual real discount rate and the economic useful life of each of the facilities equals the cost of 

replacing the existing transmission facilities with new facilities with similar characteristics at current market prices, plus, ii) the 

COMA, which corresponds to the cost required to operate, maintain and administrate the corresponding transmission facilities.

 

2.16 REVENUE RECOGNITION (CONTINUED)

The Company has the right to collect from its customers a “toll” which is composed by an “AVI+COMA” related to the use of its 

transmission facilities. The Electrical Law stablishes these “AVI+COMA” as integral components in rendering the transmission 

service. Therefore, due to these services are substantially the same and they have the same stream of transference to custo-

mers, in other words, both services are satisfied through the time with a similar progress measurement; The company has defi-

ned that there is a unique performance obligation and it is satisfied during a period of time, therefore revenues are recognized 

in the same base. 

Revenues from both regulatory and contractual arrangements are recognized and invoiced on a monthly basis, using fixed mon-

thly amounts resulting from values stipulated in the contracts or resulting from the regulated tariffs and indexed as applicable. 

The transmission service is invoiced usually at the beginning of the month following the month when the service was rendered 

and thus the revenue recognized each month includes transmission service provided but not invoiced up to the month end.

2.17 LEASES 

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at the 

inception date, whether fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or whether or not 

the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONTINUED)
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Leases in which substantially all risks and benefits inherent to the property are transferred to the lessee are classified as finance 

leases. Other leases that do not meet this criterion are classified as operating leases. 

2.17.1 THE COMPANY AS LESSOR 

The assets held under a finance lease are presented in other financial assets at an amount equal to the net investment in 

the lease, being the aggregate of: (i) minimum lease payments receivable and (ii) any unguaranteed residual value accruing to 

the Company discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. The income (interest) is recognized on a pattern reflecting 

a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment in the lease; this income is presented in the statement of income in 

operating revenues. Lease payments relating to the period, excluding costs for any separate services, are applied against the 

gross investment in the lease to reduce both the principal and the unearned finance income.

Assets subject to operating leases are presented in the statement of financial position according to the nature of the asset. 

Lease income from operating leases is recognized in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term, unless another sys-

tematic basis is more representative to reflect time pattern in which use benefit derived from the leased asset is diminished.

2.17.2 THE COMPANY AS LESSEE 

Finance leases in which acts as lessee are recognized when the agreement begins, recording an asset based on the nature of 

the lease and a liability for the same amount, equal to the lesser of the fair value of the leased asset or the present value of 

the minimum lease payments. 

Subsequently, the minimum lease payments are divided between finance expense and reducing the debt. The finance expense 

is recorded in the income statement and distributed over the period of the lease term so as to obtain a constant interest rate 

for each period over the balance of the debt pending amortization. The asset is amortized in the same terms as other similar 

depreciable assets, as long as there is reasonable certainty that the lessee will acquire ownership of the asset at the end of the 

lease. If no such certainty exists, the asset will be amortized over the lesser term between the useful life of the asset and the 

term of the lease. 

As of June 30, 2017, the company does not have leases where it acts as a lessee.

Operating lease payments are expensed on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another type of systematic 

basis of distribution is deemed more representative. 

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONTINUED)
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2.18 DISTRIBUTION OF DIVIDENDS 

Dividends payable to the Company’s shareholders are recognized as a liability in the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 

period in which they are approved by the Company’s shareholders. 

Company makes a provision at the end of each year for the 30% of the profit of the year, in accordance with Law N° 18,046. 

On the Company’s Board Meeting No. 57 held on September 30, 2010, the policy used for the determination of distributable net 

profit was approved. This policy does not contemplate adjustments to the profit attributable to owners of the parent. 

NOTE 3 - RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY 

3.1 FINANCIAL RISK

Transelec is exposed to the following risks as a result of the financial instruments it holds: market risk stemming from interest 

rates, exchange rates and other prices that impact market values of financial instruments, credit risk and liquidity risk. The fo-

llowing paragraphs describe these risks and how they are managed. 

3.1.1 MARKET RISK 

Market risk is defined for these purposes as the risk of changes in the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 

as a result of changes in market prices. Market risk includes the risk of changes in interest and exchange rates, inflation rates 

and variations in market prices due to factors other than interest or exchange rates such as commodity prices or credit spread 

differentials, among others. 

Company policy regulates investments and indebtedness, in an attempt to limit the impact of changes in the value of currencies 

and interest rates on the Company’s net results by: 

a) Investing cash surpluses in instruments maturing within no more than 90 days.

b) Entering into swap contracts and other instruments to maintain a balanced foreign exchange position.

c) Entering into long-term fixed rate indebtedness thus limiting risk from variable interest rates.

3.1.1.1 INTEREST RATE RISK 

Significant changes in fair values and future cash flows of financial instruments that can be directly attributable to interest rate 

risks include changes in the net proceeds from financial instruments whose cash flows are determined in reference to floating 

interest rates and changes in the value of financial instruments with fixed cash flows. 
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The Company´s assets are primarily fixed and long-lived intangible assets. Consequently, financial liabilities that are used to finance 

such assets consist primarily of long-term liabilities at fixed rates. This debt is recorded in the balance sheet at amortized cost. 

The objective of interest rate risk management is to achieve a balanced debt structure, decrease the impact on costs due to interest 

rate variations and, reduce volatility in the income statement. 

The table below compares the debts of the Company and shows that majority of the debt as of December 31, 2018 and De-

cember 31, 2017 were at fixed rate. 

(*) The floating rate 4.06% of the Revolving credit facility breaks down in 3M LIBOR plus a margin of 1.25%. At December 30, 2018, the Company did not utilize this line therefore does not pay 
interest and currently is paying a fixed commission of 0.4375% per annum of the committed amount undrawn.

(**) The floating rate 0.46% of the Revolving credit facility breaks down in TAB UF 180 plus a margin of 0.25%. At December 30, 2018, the Company did not utilize this line therefore does not 
pay interest and currently is paying a fixed commission of 0.15% per annum of the committed amount undrawn.

However, in the case of UF-indexed debt, variations in inflation rates could potentially impact the Company’s financial expenses. 

Even if an increase in inflation rates could impact the costs of debt denominated in UF, and therefore the Company’s finance 

expenses, these impacts are partly mitigated by accounts receivable denominated in UF. The following shows the effects of 

UF-indexed debt on the company’s financial result.
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3.1.1.2	 EXCHANGE RATE RISK 

Transelec’s exposure to the risk of exchange rate variations is due to the following: 

> Transelec carries out several types of transactions in U.S. dollars (certain construction contracts, import purchases, 

etc.). 

> Maintains accounts receivables in US dollars.

> Transelec maintains Cross Currency Swap contracts, which offset exchange rate risks of international emissions 

made in 2014 and 2016, for notional amounts equivalent to US$ 375 million and US$ 350 million, respectively (Long-

term position).

> Maintains lease contracts that generate income indexed to US dollars. 

Exchange rate exposure is managed using an approved policy by senior management that involves: 

a) Fully hedging net balance sheet exposure using diverse instruments such as foreign exchange forward contracts and cross 

currency swaps.
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The following table details the amounts of monetary assets and liabilities denominated into dollar and Chilean pesos in the 

periods indicated below:

b) The indexation formulas applied biannually and incorporated into the toll contracts of the zone System (former Subtrans-

mission) as well as the monthly application for the regulated revenue of the National System (former trunk system) allow pre-

sentation of the variations of the value of the installations and the costs of operation, maintenance and management. Gene-

rally, these indexation formulas contemplate the variations in the international equipment prices, material prices and national 

manpower prices.

3.1.1.2.1 SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

The following chart shows the sensitivity analysis of various items to a 10% increase or decrease in exchange rates (US Dollar) 

and their effect on income or equity. This exchange rate sensitivity (10%) is used to internally report the Company’s foreign ex-

change risk to key management personnel and represents management’s valuation of the possible change in US Dollar exchan-

ge rate. The sensitivity analysis includes asset and liability balances in currencies other than the Company’s functional currency. 

A positive number indicates an increase in income or other comprehensive income when the Chilean peso is strengthened with 

respect to the foreign currency. A negative percentage implies a weakening of the Chilean peso with respect to the foreign cu-

rrency, which negatively impacts the income statement or in other comprehensive income. 

 

In addition, the sensitivity table below shows the risk faced by the company with regard to the variation of the Unidad de Fo-

mento (UF); this effect is recognized in income.
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3.1.2 CREDIT RISK

With respect to credit risk related to accounts receivable from the electricity transmission activity, this risk is historically very 

low in the industry given the nature of business of the Company’s customers and the short-term period of collection of receiva-

bles from clients leads to the situation in which they do not accumulate very significant amounts.

However, revenues are highly concentrated in major customers as shown in the following table:
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Tolls and tariff revenues that these companies must pay to use the transmission system will generate significant future cash 

flows of Transelec and a substantial change in their assets, financial conditions and / or results of operations could adversely 

affect the Company.

Regarding the credit risks associated with financial assets of the Company other than accounts receivable (time deposits, mu-

tual funds, bonds, covenants, active position derivative), the policy of the Treasury establishes limits on exposure to a 

particular institution, and this limit depends on the risk classification and capital of each institution. Additionally, in the case of 

investments in mutual funds, only the ones having risk classification qualify.

3.1.3 LIQUIDITY RISK 

Liquidity risk is the risk of the Company not satisfying a need for cash or debt payment upon maturity, Liquidity risk also inclu-

des the risk of not being able to liquidate assets in a timely manner at a reasonable price, 

a) Risk associated to Company’s management

To guarantee that it is able to respond financially both the investment opportunities and to the timely payment of its obliga-

tions.Transelec separately records its available cash and short-term accounts receivable with a dedicated Revolving Credit (RC) 

for working capital divided in two tranches; for US$ 150 million and UF 2,5 million, both amount equivalents to Ch$165,090 

billion. As of September 30, 2018, this committed line doesn’t register amounts used. This committed line of credit was con-

tracted on July 9, 2012, is granted for a period of three years by a bank syndicate consisting of Scotiabank, Bank of Tokyo-Mit-

subishi and DnB NOR. 

Additionally, this line was renegotiated and extended on October 15, 2014 until October 15, 2017.Posteriorly, was done a new 

amendment to extend the expiration of the credit line for three more years.

In this opportunity the bank syndicate was formed by Scotiabank and Banco Estado for the UF tranche and by The bank of Nova 

Scotia, Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi, DnB Bank y Export Development Canadá for USD tranche, In this last negotiation was keeping 

the conditions previously negotiated.

(a) Commissions payable on committed unused amounts (Commitment Fee) from 0,6% to 0,4375%.

(b) The margin or spread over used amounts from 2,35% to 1,25%.

(c) Other restrictions clauses more favorable to Transelec.

The Company is exposed to risks associated with indebtedness, including refinancing risk when its debt matures. 

These risks are mitigated by using long-term debt and appropriately structuring maturities over time.
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a) Risk associated to Company’s management (continued)

The following table presents the capital amortizations and estimated interest payments corresponding to the Company’s finan-

cial liabilities (debt), according to their maturity date, as of December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
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The maturity of derivatives is presented Note 14.2,

b) Associated risk to the settlement of trunk transmission system tariff revenues (Ex Troncal)

According to Decree N°4/20,018 from the Ministry of Economy, Fomentation and Reconstruction, in its articles 81, 101, 104 and 

106, and complementary rules, Transelec has the right to perceive on a provisory basis the real tariff income (IT for its name in 

Spanish) of the Sistema Nacional (Ex Troncal) generated for every period, 

In order to get their own revenues, set up in the first paragraph of article N°101 of the above mentioned Decree N°4/20,018, 

the real tariff income perceived on a provisory basis must be settled by Transelec according to the repayment schedule prepared 

by the respective CEN (National Electrical Coordinator) through the collection or payment to the different companies, owners 

of generation facilities.

Transelec could face the risk of not timely collecting the IT that some of the companies owners of generation facilities should 

pay as determined in the energy balances prepared by CEN, what may temporarily affect the Company’s liquidity position, In 

this sense, and in the opinion of the Company, the “clearing house” function that Transelec fulfills in the above-mentioned 

collection process, consists not of the collection of amounts for its own benefit, but it is merely collection and subsequent 

transfers to third parties of credits and debts that belong to the generating companies, with the exception of the expected IT.

NOTE 4 - CRITICAL ESTIMATES, JUDGMENTS OR CRITERIA EMPLOYED BY MANAGEMENT 

The estimates and criteria used by the Company are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 

factors, including expectations of future events that are considered reasonable based on the circumstances. 

The Company makes estimates and assumptions about the future, by definition, the resulting accounting estimates will rarely 

be equal to the real outcomes. Estimates and assumptions with a significant risk of causing an important risk to the Company 

during the upcoming year are detailed below:
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> The estimates of recoverable values of assets and goodwill to determine potential existence of impairment losses;

> Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets;

> The assumptions used to calculate the fair value of financial instruments;

> The actuarial assumptions used to calculate obligations with employees;

> Future tax results for the purposes of determining the recoverability of deferred tax assets.

> Determination of existence and classification of financial or operating leases based on the transfer of risks and 

rewards of the leased assets.

> Deferred tax assets

> Contingent assets and liabilities.

Although the estimates mentioned above were made according to the best information available at the date of issuance of 

these Consolidated Financial Statements, it is possible that future events oblige to modify them (upside or downside) in further 

periods, those modifications to each estimate will be recorded prospectively and recognized on those respective Consolidated 

Financial Statements.

NOTE 5 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

a) As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, this account is detailed as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents included in the statement of financial position as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 

does not differ from those presented in the statement of cash flows.
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b) The following table details the balance of cash and cash equivalents by type of currency:

Fair values are not significantly different from book values due to the short maturity of these instruments. 

NOTE 6 - TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, this account is detailed as follows:

125

TRANSELEC S.A. AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017

 (Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish-See Note 2.1)

08 F INANCIAL  STATEMENTS

The accompanying notes number 1 to 29 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



126

TRANSELEC S.A. AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017

 (Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish-See Note 2.1)

Refer to Note 7 for the amounts, terms and conditions of receivables from related parties.

As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the aging of trade and other receivables is as follows:

The fair values are not significantly different from book values due to the short maturity of these instruments, 

(*)On December 13, 2011 the company Campanario Generación S.A. was declared bankrupt and stopped paying Transelec for tolls and tariff revenue for ThCh$6,345,762 (December 31, 2011), 
Based on the legal and regulatory history, the Company estimated that there are no indications to attest that the accounts receivable outstanding from tariff revenues, are impaired. Therefore, 
Transelec S,A, recorded a provision for uncollectible amount as of December 31, 2015 for ThCh$ 1,392,383 relating to accounts receivable for items other than tariff revenues for which - at 
the date of the presentation of these  consolidated financial statements - there is no certainty that the Company will recover.

The movement of the provision for uncollectible amount is presented the period ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 

2017:

(*) The company has exhausted all means of collection and therefore at December 31, 2018 had proceed to write-off the provision of Campanario Generación S.A. 
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NOTE 7 - BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

7.1 BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Balances of receivables and payables between the company and its unconsolidated related companies are detailed as follows:
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NOTE 7 - BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED) 

7.1 BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)

a) Most significant transactions and their effect on income

Transactions with unconsolidated related parties had the following effects on the income statement:

7.2 BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT 

In accordance with the Company’s by-laws, the Board of Directors is composed of nine members appointed by shareholders at 

the respective shareholders’ meeting. They hold their positions for two years and may be re-elected. For each Board Member 

there is an alternate Board Member. The current Board of Directors was elected in the Ordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting 

on April 27, 2018. 

On May 23, 2018, in an Ordinary Meeting of Directors, Brenda Eaton was elected Chairman of the Board of Directors of Transelec.

7.2.1 BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ COMPENSATION 

According to Article No, 33 of Law No, 18,046 on Corporations, at the Tenth Ordinary Shareholders’ Board Meeting of Transelec 

S.A., held on April 27, 2018, it was agreed to maintain annual directors’ allowance of US$ 90,000, gross value, regardless of the 

number of meetings actually attended or held, The allowance is paid quarterly.

The directors Alfredo Ergas, Paul Dufresne and Han Rui waived their allowance corresponding to the years 2018. At the Ordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting for 2018, it was decided that the alternate directors would not receive an allowance.
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7.3 BOARD EXPENSES

During the period between January 01, 2018 and December 31, 2018 there have been UF 216.73 UF expenses related to con-

sulting for the Board.

7.4 AUDIT COMMITTEE

In April 2007, the Company approved creation of an Audit Committee, separate from that established in the Corporations Law. 

Its functions include, among others, reviewing the reports of the external auditors as well as the Company’s balance sheets, 

other Consolidated Financial Statements and internal systems. Transelec’s Audit Committee is composed of four Directors, all 

of whom are qualified in financial matters and apply their specialized knowledge to diverse topics of interest to the Company, 

Committee members are appointed by the Board of Directors. The Audit Committee has held two meetings in both 2018 and 

2017. 

As of April 8, 2018, in an Ordinary Meeting of Directors, the Audit Committee members were composed by its President Mr, Mario 

Valcarce Durán, Directors Mr, Alfredo Ergas, Mrs, Brenda Eaton and Mr, José Ramón Valente, besides the Secretary, Mr, Arthur Le 

Blanc Cerda.

As of the date of these consolidated financial statements, the Audit Committee is maintained.
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On the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of Transelec S.A. held on April 27, 2018, shareholders established annual gross compen-

sation for the Committee members at US$ 10,000, regardless of the number of sessions actually attended or held.

The following compensation was received by members of the Audit Committee during 2018 and 2017:

T R A N S E L E C  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8

The accompanying notes number 1 to 29 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

7.5 COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT THAT ARE NOT DIRECTORS

Members of Key Management

Andrés Kuhlmann Jahn

Eric Ahumada Gómez

Francisco Castro Crichton

Alexandros Semertzakis Pandolfi

Claudio Aravena Vallejo

Arturo Le Blanc Cerda

Rodrigo López Vergara

David Noe Scheinwald

The Company has established an incentive plan for its executives based on meeting certain individual goals that contribute to 

the Company’s results.These incentives are structured as a minimum and maximum number of gross monthly salaries and paid 

once per year.

Compensation of key management personnel by concept for the periods 2018 and 2017 is detailed as follows:

Chief Executive Officer

Vice-President of Business Development

Vice-President of Finance

Vice-President of Engineering and Construction

Vice-President of Human Resources

Vice-President of Legal Matters

Vice-President of Operations

Vice-President of Electrical Development 

NOTE 8 - OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS, LEASES

As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2018, this account is detailed as follows:

8.1 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 

Within current and non-current other assets receivable, the Company includes assets that have been constructed at the express 

request of the lessee. Therefore, substantially all risks and benefits have been transferred when the assets are commissioned. 

Nominal value (gross investment in the lease) and present value of the minimum lease payments to be received are presented 

in the following tables:
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NOTE 8 - OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS, LEASES (CONTINUED)

8.1 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Movements in finance leases:

T R A N S E L E C  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8

The accompanying notes number 1 to 29 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

8.2 OPERATING LEASES PAYABLE

The Company has operating leases contract in which it acts as lessee, Payments under those contracts are recognized in admi-

nistrative expenses as follows:

The following table details the amounts payable based on the maturity of each agreement:
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NOTE 9 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

The following tables detail the balances within this account as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017:
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(*) As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 Transelec S.A. present intangible assets with indefinite useful lives under the classification of rights of way.
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The composition and movements of intangible assets as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 are the following: 

Based on estimates made by Management, projections of cash flows attributable to intangible assets allow the carrying value 

of these assets recorded as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 to be recovered.
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NOTE 10 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

10.1 DETAIL OF ACCOUNTS 

This account is detailed as follows:

T R A N S E L E C  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8

The accompanying notes number 1 to 29 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

TRANSELEC S.A. AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017

 (Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish-See Note 2.1)

10.2 RECONCILIATION OF CHANGES IN PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

The following table details the reconciliation of changes in property, plant and equipment by class during the periods ended 

December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017:
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NOTE 10 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

10.3 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Transelec has insurance policies to cover possible risks subject to various items of property, plant and equipment and possible 

claims that might be filed by exercising its activities, understanding that such policies cover sufficiently the risks to which they 

are taken.

The Company held as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 commitments to purchase items of property, plant 

and equipment arising from construction contracts under EPC (Engineering-Procurement-Construction) in the amount of 

ThCh$48,471,361 and ThCh$90,814,441, respectively.

The following table details capitalized interest costs in property, plant and equipment:

NOTE 11 - DEFERRED TAXES 

11.1 DETAIL OF DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

The origin of deferred taxes recorded as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, corresponding to the company Trans-

misión Del Melado SpA is detailed as follows:

Work in progress balances amounts to ThCh$73,919,836 and ThCh$92,667,010 as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 

2017 respectively.
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11.2 DETAIL OF DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 

The origin of deferred taxes recorded as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, corresponding to the company Transelec is 

detailed as follows:
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NOTE 11 - DEFERRED TAXES (CONTINUED)

11.3 DEFERRED TAX MOVEMENTS IN STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

The movements of balances of deferred taxes in the statement of financial position for the periods December 31, 2018 and 

December 31, 2017 are as follows:

NOTE 12 - FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

12.1 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The current and non-current portion of this account as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 is as follows:

Recovery of deferred tax assets will depend on whether sufficient tax profits are obtained in the future. Based on its projections 

the Company believes that its future profits will allow these assets to be recovered.
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12.2 DETAIL OF OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

1. Bonds payable

The obligations with the public by series, currency, effective rate and expiration as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 

2017 are shown below:

The fair value of current and non-current bonds payable, both secured and unsecured, amounts to ThCh$1,553,921,792 and 

ThCh$1,537,491,944 as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively (it does not include other current and 

non-current liabilities such as swap agreements which are presented in the  Consolidated Financial Statements at fair value). 

The fair value of the bonds is estimated by discounting future cash flows using discount rates available for debt with similar 

terms of credit risk and similar maturities. This value is categorized as level 2 according to the hierarchy of fair value.
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NOTE 12 - FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

12.2 DETAIL OF OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

1. Bonds payable (continued)
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2. Bank loans

Bank loans by financial institution, currency, established rate and maturity as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, 

are detailed as follows:

12.3 OTHER ASPECTS 

As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, Transelec had available a credit line of US$250 million, which has not been 

used as of said dates.

Many of the Company’s debt agreements include an obligation to comply with certain covenants, including certain financial 

ratios (see Note 19), which is customary for agreements of this nature. This also includes affirmative and negative obligations 

that require these commitments to be monitored.
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NOTE 13 - TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

Trade and other payables as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, are detailed as follows:

The average payment period for suppliers in the periods ended 2018 and 2017 was 30 days and, therefore, the fair value of 

these liabilities does not differ significantly from their book value.

NOTE 14 - DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS 

In adhering to its risk management policy, Transelec enters primarily into exchange rate derivatives (see Note 3), The Company 

classifies its derivatives as: 

> Cash flow hedging instruments: Those that hedge the cash flows of the hedged underlying item.

In addition, the Company uses certain non-hedging derivatives: the instruments that do not meet the requirements of IFRS and 

thus do not qualify for hedge accounting.

14.1 DERIVATIVES ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
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14.2 OTHER INFORMATION

 

The following table details Transelec’s derivatives as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, including their fair values 

as well as their notional and contractual values by maturity:

The contractual notional amount of these contracts does not represent the risk assumed by Transelec as it is only in response 

to the basis with which derivative settlements are calculated, In the periods presented December 31, 2018 and December 31, 

2017, Transelec had not recognized any gains or losses for ineffectiveness of cash flow hedges.

Derivatives are valued considering valuation techniques which include observable data, the most commonly used valuation te-

chniques include swap valuation models using present value calculations, The models include several inputs including the credit 

risk of the counterparty, foreign exchange spot rates and interest rate curves.

14.3 FAIR VALUE HIERARCHIES 

Financial instruments recognized at fair value in the statement of financial position are classified based on the following hie-

rarchies: (a) Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) price in an active market for identical assets and liabilities, (b) Level 2: Inputs other 

than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for assets or liabilities, either directly (i,e, as a price) or indirectly (i.e., 

as a derivative of a price); and (c) Level 3: Inputs for assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market information 

(non-observable inputs).
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The following table details financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value as of December 31, 2018.

The following table details financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value as of December 31, 2017.
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NOTE 15 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The classification of financial assets in the categories described in Note 2.9 is shown below:
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NOTE 15 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
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The classification of financial liabilities in the categories described in Note 2.9 is shown below:
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NOTE 15 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

NOTE 16 - PROVISIONS 

16.1 DETAIL OF PROVISIONS

 
As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, this account is detailed as follows:
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16.2 PROVISION MOVEMENTS

In 2018 and 2017, provision movements were the following:
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NOTE 16 - PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)

16.2 PROVISION MOVEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The maturity of these provisions is detailed in the table below:

As of December 31, 2018
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SEVERANCE PAY FOR YEARS OF SERVICE

The Company has constituted a provision to cover the obligation of severance pay for years of service, to be paid to its emplo-

yees, in accordance with the collective contracts signed with the latter, This provision represents the entire accrued provision 

(see note 18).

VACATION ACCRUAL

This obligation corresponds to the expense for vacations granted and not accrued by the Company’s employees, whose benefit 

is specified in individual contract of each employee.

ANNUAL BENEFITS

This provision primarily includes allowances for employee participation in the Company’s income, which are mostly paid within 

the first quarter of the following year.

OTHER PROVISIONS

This category’s balance primarily corresponds to the obligation for health agreement contributions.

16.3 LAWSUITS AND ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS TRANSELEC S.A.

1) With regard to delays in two of the important milestones of Nogales-Polpaico project, the Ministry of Energy 

proceeded in June 2016 to collect two guarantees for a total of US $ 2,960,000. In December 2016, the CDEC-SIC 

(currently CEN) settled the fine for delays to start the operations of the Project and reported that Transelec was obli-

ged to pay the maximum fine, that is, US$1,800,000. Transelec filed an appeal for protection against the CDEC-SIC 

(currently CEN) and the Ministry of Energy, since there are requests for extension of time they have not been resolved 

by the Ministry, so it is entirely inappropriate to act CDEC-SIC (currently CEN) and the failure of the Ministry of Energy. 

The Court of Appeals declared admissible and ordered injunction, By judgment dated December 13, 2016, the Court of 

Appeals rejected the protection. The Supreme Court rejected the appeal presented, TGR’s report of the fine is pending, 

to then proceed with its payment.

As of December 31, 2018 the Company has established a provision for these and other contingents liabilities totaling 

to ThCh$1,548,219 considering for the purpose of this estimate that there are similar cases in the Court of Appeals in 

which the Court of Appeals rejected the claim, pending the hearing of the appeal before Supreme Court, that in such 

cases has confirmed the decisions of the SEC.

2) As of December 31, 2018, the company Campanario Generación S,A, has not fulfilled its obligation to pay invoices 
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issued by Transelec for the injection and withdrawal balances issued by the CDEC-SIC (currently CEN) in December 

2010, July, August and December 2011, plus provisional payments for the use of Zonal Systems (former Subtransmis-

sion), common facilities and lease of physical spaces, On August 3, 2011, Transelec notified the SEC of this company’s 

failure to comply with its obligation so it could adopt legally appropriate measures.

In order to collect the funds owed by Campanario Generación S,A,, on August 12, 2011, Transelec S,A, filed a prepa-

ratory invoice notification measure against that company before the 5th Civil Court of Santiago for unpaid invoices 

totaling ThCh$ 6,285,171. This judicial management was presented to the 5th Civil Court of Santiago.

On December 13, 2011, Campanario Generación S,A, was declared bankrupt by the 6th Civil Court of Santiago, In this 

bankruptcy proceeding, Transelec claimed ThCh$ 14,688,235, which includes VAT of ThCh$ 2,345,064, plus principal, 

interest, indexation adjustments and costs.

By Exempt Resolution No, 2288 dated August 26, 2011, the SEC ordered the CDEC-SIC (currently CEN) to exclude the 

Company from the Balance of Energy and Power which is made to calculate tariff revenues (IT). 

On 31 of December the company proceeded to right-off the provision from Campanario Generación S.A.

NOTE 17 - POST-EMPLOYMENT AND OTHER BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

17.1 DETAIL OF ACCOUNT 
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17.2 DETAIL OF OBLIGATIONS TO EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, this account is detailed as follows:

(*) The figure as of December 31, 2018 includes ThCh$1.151.577 related to the update of the actuarial assumptions recorded into Other Comprehensive Income.

17.3 BALANCE OF OBLIGATIONS TO EMPLOYEES
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17.4 EXPENSES RECOGNIZED IN INCOME STATEMENT 

Assumptions for future mortality rates are based on actuarial data obtained using published statistics and historical experience.

17.5 ACTUARIAL HYPOTHESIS 
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17.6 SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

The following chart shows the sensitivity analysis of the significant hypotheses as of December 31, 2018:

To evaluate impact, the sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the extrapolation method obtaining reasonable re-

sults in terms of the changes in the significant hypotheses used as of December 31, 2018.

In the following table the payments of expected of employment benefit obligation are presented:



158

NOTE 18 - EQUITY 

18.1 SUBSCRIBED AND PAID CAPITAL 

As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 authorized, subscribed and paid share capital amounts to ThCh$ 776,355,048.

18.2 NUMBER OF SUBSCRIBED AND PAID SHARES

No shares have been issued or redeemed in the years covered by these financial statements,

18.3 DIVIDENDS 

On April 27, 2017, the Ordinary Shareholders meeting of the Company was celebrated, where they agreed to distribute a final 

dividend with debit to 2016 income, in the amount of ThCh$19,757,324 which will be paid as of May 23, 2017, to the sharehol-

ders listed in the respective registry as of May 17, 2017, As of December 31, 2017, this dividend has been paid in full.

At Board of Directors’ Meeting held on May 17, 2017, it was agreed to distribute a provisional dividend with debit to the 2017 

income, in the amount of ThCh$19,222,000, which will be paid as of June 15, 2017, to the shareholders listed in the respective 

registry as of June 9, 2017, As of December 31, 2017, this dividend has been fully paid.

On August 23, 2017, the Ordinary Shareholders meeting of the Company was celebrated, where they agreed to distribute a pro-

visional dividend with debit to 2017 income, in the amount of ThCh$17,816,000 which will be paid as of December 26, 2017, 

to the shareholders listed in the respective registry as of December 20, 2017, As of December 31, 2017, this dividend has been 

paid in full.

At the Board of Directors Meeting held on November 22, 2017, the directors agreed to distribute an  dividend with a charge to 

2017, amounting to ThCh$22,499,000, to be paid as of December 20, 2017, to the shareholders registered in the respective 

Shareholders’ Registry on December 14, 2017, As of December 31, 2017, this dividend has been paid in full.

On April 27, 2018, the company’s Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting was held, where it was agreed to distribute a definitive divi-

dend for 2017 for a total of ThCh$18,712,012 which shall be paid as of May 29, 2018, to shareholders listed in the respective 

registry on May 23, 2018, As of June 30, 2018, this dividend has been fully paid.

At Board of Directors’ Meeting held on May 23, 2018, it was agreed to distribute a provisional dividend with debit to the 2018 
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income, in the amount of ThCh$19,404,000, which will be paid as of June 19, 2018, to the shareholders listed in the respective 

registry as of June 13, 2018, As of June 30, 2018, this dividend has been fully paid.

At Board of Directors’ Meeting held on August 22, 2018, it was agreed to distribute a provisional dividend with debit to the 

2018 income, in the amount of ThCh$20,483,000, which will be paid as of December 25, 2018, to the shareholders listed in the 

respective registry as of December 15, 2018, As of December 31, 2018, this dividend has been fully paid.

There was a no distribution agreement for the las quarter of 2018.

18.4 OTHER RESERVES

Other reserves as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 are detailed as follows:
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The Movement and reclassifications of other comprehensive income for the period 2018 are presented below:

18.5 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

Capital management refers to the Company’s administration of its equity,

The capital management policy of Transelec S,A, and subsidiary is aimed at maintaining adequate capitalization levels to sus-

tain operations and provide sensible leverage, thus optimizing shareholder returns and maintaining a solid financial position.

Capital requirements are determined based on the Company’s financing needs, taking care to maintain an adequate level of 

liquidity and complying with financial covenants established in current debt contracts, The Company manages its capital struc-

ture and makes adjustments based on prevailing economic conditions in order to mitigate risks from adverse market conditions 

and take advantage of any opportunities that may arise to improve its liquidity position.

The principal financial covenants established in current debt contracts related to capital requirements are: 

1) Maintain individual and indebtedness levels (Total debt / Total capitalization ratio) no greater than 0,7 based on 

the definitions of these terms in the respective prospectuses of local bond series C, D, H, K, M, N and Q.

2) a) Maintain minimum individual and equity of fifteen million UF equivalent to ThCh$ 407,381,550 as of December 

31, 2018, As that term is defined in the respective prospectuses of local bond series C, D, H, K, M and N.

b) Maintain at all times during the validity period of the bond issuance a minimum Equity of ThCh$ 350,000,000; as 

this term is defined in the respective prospectus of local bond Series Q.

The test of distribution of restricted payments (net cash flow of the operations / financial costs) must be greater than 1,5 ti-

mes, as those terms are defined in the respective prospectuses C,D,H,K,M and N.
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The following tables present – as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 - the calculation of the two covenants men-

tioned above and also a calculation of a third ratio that the Company has to comply, which does not depend on capital (equity) 

amount.



NOTE 18 – EQUITY (CONTINUED)

18.5 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

As of the date of issuance of these consolidated financial statements, the Company was in compliance with all financial cove-

nants established in its current debt contracts.
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NOTE 19 - REVENUE 

19.1 REVENUE 

The following table details revenue for the Twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2018 and 2017:
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NOTE 19 – REVENUE (CONTINUED)

19.2 OTHER OPERATING INCOME 

The following table details operating income for the nine -month periods ended December 31, 2018 and 2017:

NOTE 20 - RELEVANT INCOME STATEMENT ACCOUNTS 

20.1 EXPENSES BY NATURE 

The composition of cost of sales and administrative expenses by nature in the Twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2018 

and 2017:
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20.2 PERSONNEL EXPENSES

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, this account is detailed as follows:

20.3 DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION 

The following table details depreciation and amortization for the nine-month periods ended December 31, 2018 and 2017:

(1) The losses for the withdrawal and damages are a replacement of equipment by technical conditions, not significantly affecting the deterioration of the Cash Generating Unit.
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NOTE 20 - RELEVANT INCOME STATEMENT ACCOUNTS (CONTINUED)

20.4 FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Company’s financial result for the nine-month periods ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 is detailed as follows:
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NOTE 21 - INCOME TAX RESULT 

The following table reconciles income taxes resulting from applying statutory tax rate to the “Profit before Taxes” to the income 

tax expense recorded in the income statement for the periods December 31, 2018 and 2017: 
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NOTE 21 - INCOME TAX RESULT (CONTINUED)

The tax rate used for the periods 2018 and 2017 reconciliations corresponds to 27% and 25,5%, a corporate tax rate that enti-

ties should pay on taxable profits based on current tax regulations.

TAX REFORM CHILE

On December 29, 2014, the law N° 20,780 was published, named “Tax Reform which modifies the Tax System on the income 

and which introduces various adjustments on the Tax System”.

Among the principal changes, the creation of two optional tax systems stand out: The Attributed Income System, which esta-

blishes the progressive increase of the tax rate of the first category for the commercial years 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017 in-

creasing to 21%, 22,5%, 24%, 25%, respectively; and in the partially integrated system, which establishes a progressive increase 

of the tax rate of the first category for the commercial years 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018 increasing to 21%, 22,5%, 24%, 

25,5% and 27% respectively.
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NOTE 22 - EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders by the weighted average 

number of common shares in circulation during the year excluding, if any, common shares purchased by the Company and 

maintained as treasury shares.
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There are no transactions or concepts that create a dilutive effect.

NOTE 23 - SEGMENT REPORTING 

The Company engages exclusively in providing services related to electricity transmission, To provide such services, they pos-

sess assets throughout the country that form the Transelec transmission system, stretching 3,168 kilometers from the Arica y 

Parinacota Region to the Los Lagos Region.

Electricity transmission service falls under the legal framework that governs the electricity sector in Chile, This framework defi-

nes transmission systems and classifies transmission facilities into three categories the national transmission system (former 

trunk), the zonal system (former subtransmission system) and committed systems (former additional systems), establishing 

an open access scheme for the first two systems and allowing additional lines that use rights of way and have national assets 

for public use along their paths to be used by third parties under non-discriminatory technical and economic conditions, The 

law also sets criteria and procedures for determining compensation that transmission facility owners are entitled to receive.

Transelec’s revenue from the national system (former trunk system) consists of the “annual transmission value per segment” 

(VATT for its Spanish acronym), which is calculated every 4 years based on the “annual investment value” (AVI for its Spanish 

acronym), plus “operating, maintenance and administrative costs” (COMA for its Spanish acronym) for each segment that forms 

the national system (former trunk system).

The annual zonal system (former subtransmission system) value (VASTX for its Spanish acronym) is calculated every four years, 

It is based on the valuation of facilities that are economically adapted to demand and consists of standard investment, main-

tenance, operating and administrative costs, plus average energy and capacity losses of the adapted facilities.



Revenue from committed systems (former additional system) is established in private contracts with third parties, which are 

principally generators and users that are not subject to price regulation, The main objective of the committed systems (former 

additional system) is to enable generators to inject their production into the electricity system and to allow large customers to 

make withdrawals.

The law distinguishes between the different systems in order to ensure that tariffs are appropriate for each case, Nevertheless, 

facilities of a given voltage (220 KV, for example) are identical, whether national (former trunk), Zonal (former subtransmission) 

or committed (former additional, Thus, a 220 KV facility requires a given type of maintenance, fundamentally because of its 

geographic location, its proximity to the ocean, the climate, etc,, but in no case does this maintenance depend on whether that 

220 KV facility is national (former trunk), zonal (former subtransmission) or additional, Thus, for Transelec this classification 

into national (former trunk), zonal (former subtransmission) or additional systems is merely for tariff purposes and has no 

other consequences.

The Company’s management analyzes its business as a set of transmission assets that enables it to provide services to its 

customers. As a result, resource allocation and performance measurements are analyzed in aggregate.

Internal management takes into account this classification criterion for revenue and costs merely for descriptive purposes but 

in no case for business segmentation.

As a result, for the purposes of applying IFRS 8, all of the businesses described above are defined as one sole operating segment 

for Transelec S.A.

Information about products and services
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Information about sales and principal customers

The Company has three clients that each represent more than 10% of the total revenue as of December 31, 2018, The amount of 

revenue recognized for those clients in 2018 is ThCh$76,995,844, ThCh$32,766,858 and ThCh$30,847,560, respectively, As of 

December 31, 2017, the Company had three clients that each represented more than 10% of the total revenue as of said date, 

The amount of revenue recognized for those clients in 2017 was ThCh$87,717,127, ThCh$37,826,998 and ThCh$35,802,814, 

respectively.

NOTE 24 - THIRD-PARTY GUARANTEES, OTHER CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

As of December 31, 2018, the Company has received performance guarantees from contractors and third parties, primarily to 

guarantee performance of construction and maintenance works, amounting to ThCh$20,169,824 (ThCh$25,354,104 as of De-

cember 31, 2017).

NOTE 25 - DISTRIBUTION OF PERSONNEL (NON AUDITED)

As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, personnel employed by Transelec S.A. are detailed as follows:
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NOTE 26 - ENVIRONMENT 

Transelec, in compliance with current environmental regulations and in line with its sustainability policy have undergone envi-

ronmental assessment projects or amendments thereto to the environmental authority through the Environmental Evaluation 

System (SEIA), To this end, several studies were conducted to substantiate the presentations have allowed environmental docu-

ments, These documents are an Environmental Impact Statement (EIS for Spanish acronym) or an environmental impact study 

concerned, met the requirements of Law No, 19,300 on General Environment, amended by Law No, 20,417, and its regulations 

of SEIA, for projects that have started their implementation the Company has been following the conditions and measures im-

posed by environmental authority in the respective resolutions of environmental qualification.

During for the twelve-month ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company has made the following environmental disbur-

sements:
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NOTE 27 - ASSETS AND LIABILITIES IN FOREIGN CURRENCY 

a) Current assets and liabilities
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NOTE 28 – BUSINESS COMBINATION

Purchase of Transmisión Del Melado SpA.

On March 31, 2017, the company Transelec S,A acquired the company Transmisión Del Melado SpA, thus obtaining control over 

it, This Company was acquired as part of the development and growth strategy of Transelec S.A.

The goodwill generated at the moment of the transaction represents the synergies and scale economies expected from the 

business combination.

The following chart describes the price paid and the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed (ThCh$):
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NOTE 29 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 15, 2019, there was a no distribution agreement regarding the provisory distribution for the year 2018.

Between December 31, 2018, closing date of these consolidated financial statements and the date of issuance, there has been 

no other significant financial and accounting events that may affect the equity of the Company or the interpretation of these 

consolidated financial statements.
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SUMMARY

As of December 31, 2018, Revenues reached MCh$329,217 showing an increase of 18.2% compared to the same period of 2017 

(MCh$278,599). The increase is mostly explained by the entry into force of 6T Decree which mainly establishes the new Zonal 

tariffs. Commissioning of new projects during the year and macroeconomics effects, explained mostly due to the local and in-

ternational consumer price index also explain the Revenues increase.

As of December 31s, 2018, Transelec obtained an EBITDA1 of MCh$279,153, a 19.7% higher than the obtained in the same pe-

riod of 2017 (MCh$232,382), with an EBITDA Margin2 of 84.5%. The EBITDA increase is almost totally due to the higher Revenues 

explained before.

The loss in Non-Operating Income as of December, 2018 was MCh$77,496, representing an increase of 12.2% compared to the 

same period of 2017 (MCh$69,050). The main item that explain this increase is higher losses for indexed assets and liabilities 

of MCh$8,265, which mostly measures the inflation impact on the UF denominated debt of the Company.

Net Income recorded by the Company as of December 31, 2018 was MCh$105,468, which is 34.8% higher compared to the 

same period of 2017, in which was registered a net income of MCh$78,249.

During 2018, the Company incorporated US$163.3 million of new facilities, which correspond to two new National projects 

commissioning, four expansions in the National and one in the Zonal segment. Among the commissioned projects, stands out 

the “Línea 2x220 kV Lo Aguirre - Cerro Navia” project which considers an underground section of approximately 1.5 km.

RELEVANT EVENTS OF THE PERIOD:

> On March 15, 2018, the purchase and sale of shares between Brookfield Asset Management (BAM) and China Southern Power 

Grid International (CSGI) took place, therefore, CSGI became shareholder of the 27.79% that BAM indirectly owned in Transe-

lec SA. The other 3 indirect shareholders remain unchanged (Canada Pension Plan (CPP), BCI (former bcIMC) and Public Sector 

Pension Investment (PSP)).

> On April 27, 2018, the Ordinary Shareholders Meeting was held, it was approved, among other things:

o Approve the Financial Statements as of December 31, 2018.

o Approve Deloitte as the External Auditors for 2018 exercise.

> In November 2018, the local risk rating agency Humphreys upgraded the Company’s rating from AA- to AA with stable outlook. 

Additionally, during 2018, the local risk rating agencies Feller and Fitch Ratings ratified the AA- classifications. The internatio-

nal risk rating agencies Moody’s, Fitch Ratings and Standard & Poors, also ratified Transelec’s ratings at Baa1, BBB and BBB, 

respectively.

> In August 3, 2018, Transelec paid the Promissory Note of MCh$20.000 held with Banco BCI at its maturity. 

> In October 2018, Decree 6T was published in the Official Gazette, which establishes the new rates for the Zonal segment, 

which will be valid from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2019. The income difference between the previous Decree and the 

current one, which occurred during the first 3 quarters of 2018, was recognized retroactively as income in the fourth quarter of 

2018.

> In November took place the first meeting between the Board of Directors and Employees where the functioning and respon-

sibilities of the Board and the different Committees were made known. Likewise, some employees were able to present some 

topics that are being carried out in the Company. 

> During 2018, Transelec have distributed the following amounts to the shareholders:

o MCh$18,712 as the definitive dividend of 2017 exercise, distributed on May 23, 2018.

o MCh$19,404 as the first provisory dividend of 2018, distributed on June 19, 2018.

o MCh$20,483 as the second provisory dividend of 2018, distributed on September 25, 2018.

o The Board of Directors agreed to suspend the third provisory dividend.
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1 EBITDA= Operating Revenues + Operating Fixed Costs + Administration and Sales Fixed Costs + Other Income + Finance Leases Amortization
2 EBITDA Margin= EBITDA/Revenues
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1- INCOME STATEMENT ANALYSIS A) OPERATING INCOME

At the end of 2018, the Revenues reached MCh$329,217 increasing an 18.2% compared to the same period of 2017 (MCh$278,599). 

The increase is explained by higher revenues from Toll Sales which at the end of December totaled MCh$323,003, an 18.9% 

higher than the obtained in the same period of 2017 (MCh$271,771). The Services revenues as of December 31, 2018 reached 

MCh$6,214, a 9.8% lower than the same period of 2017 (MCh$6,828).

The increase in Toll Sales Revenues is explained by an increase of MCh$15,579 in the National segment, MCh$32,557 in the 

Zonal segment and MCh$3,097 in the Dedicated segment.

As a whole, the increase in Revenues is mainly explained by: (i) the entry into force of 6T Decree, which establishes the tariffs 

for the Zonal Segment for 2018-2019 period for MCh$29,156, (ii) new projects in 2018 that became operative in the last twelve 

months of MCh$11,413 and (iii) macroeconomic effects by MCh$6,260.

Total Transelec Operational Costs and Expenses as of December 31, 2018 were MCh$108,668, a 2.3% higher than the compari-

son period in 2017 that reached MCh$106,272. Total costs are composed by the following main items.

Cost of sales during the analysis period totaled MCh$31,783, a 0.9% higher than the same period of 2017 (MCh$31,513). The 

increase is mainly explained by higher maintenance costs associated to the increase of preventive activities, in which main fo-

cus has been vegetation control and line-insulator wash and a payment associated to the end of a negotiation with one of the 

unions. This is almost totally offset by lower payments associated to the coordinator functioning because the new Transmission 

Law doesn’t consider this costs. 

Administrative Expenses amounted MCh$23,293 in December 2018, 20.2% higher than those obtained in the same period in 

2017 (MCh$19,380). The increase is mainly explained by higher personnel costs due to a payment associated to the end of a 

negotiation with one of the unions and higher consultancy costs associated to a Strategy, Digital Transformation a Productivity 

initiatives.

Total Depreciation and Amortization as of December 31, 2018 reached MCh$53,592, a 3.2% lower than the same period in 2017 

(MCh$55,379). The decrease is mainly explained by higher right-off in 2017, partially compensated by new commissioning and 

higher amortizations due to software investments between both periods.
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B) NON-OPERATING INCOME

The Non-Operating Income of 2018 was a loss of MCh$77,496, a 12.2% higher than the same period of 2017 (MCh$69,050), 

mainly explained by higher Losses for Indexed Assets and Liabilities.

The loss for Indexed Assets and Liabilities was MCh$20,544 as of December 31, 2018, a 67.3% higher than the loss recorded in 

the same period of 2017 (MCh$12,279). This is mainly due to the readjustment of local bonds in UF because of the variation in 

the value of the UF that for the first half of 2018 corresponds to 2.86% compared to a 1.71% for the same period of 2017, due 

to lower inflation in that period. It should be reminded that this accrual is a non-cash effect.  

The Financial Costs recorded as of December, 2018 amounted to MCh$68,692, practically in line to the same period of the pre-

vious year (MCh$69,326).

Other Income as of December 31, 2018, reached MCh$3,104 a 12.7% lower than the same period of 2017 (MCh$3,555). This is 

mainly explained by 2017 supplier regularizations and higher Income in 2017 due to an insurance.

Foreign Exchange Differences as of December, 2018 amounted a loss of MCh$1,461. The Company has a hedge policy that helps 

to reduce this losses. During 2018, important variations of foreign exchange impact on temporary balance items remain low, 

associated with the foreign currency hedging policy of the balance sheet, resulting in the mentioned loss.

Financial Income registered as of December, 2018 reached MCh$10,097, a 10.5% higher than the obtained on the same period 

of 2017 (MCh$9,138). The increase is explained by higher cash balance. 

C) INCOME TAX

Income Tax as of December 31, 2018 was MCh$137,586, increasing by 50.2% in relation to the same period of 2017 

(MCh$25,029). The increase is mainly due to higher Income before Taxes.
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2. BALANCE SHEET ANALYSIS

The increase in Assets between December 2017 and December 2018 is explained by an increase in Non-current Assets and an 

increase in Current Assets. The increase in Non-current Assets is mainly due to an increase in accounts receivable from related 

companies and a higher balance of property, plant and equipment, for works in progress. The increase in Current Assets is most-

ly explained by higher cash and cash equivalent and higher balance of commercial accounts receivable, partially offset by lower 

balance of accounts receivable from related entities.

The increase in total Liabilities and Equity is due to an increase in Non-Current Liabilities and Equity, partially offset by decreases 

in Current Liabilities. The rise in Non-Current Liabilities is due to an increase in financial liabilities associated with the revaluation 

of the debt. The increase in Equity is explained by higher accumulated earnings associated to the no distribution in the last 

quarter of 2018 partially offset due to a lower accumulated balance in Other Reserves. The lower current liabilities are mainly 

due to lower financial liabilities due the payment of the Promissory Note with Banco BCI of MCh$20,000 and lower accounts 

payable to suppliers.
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VALUE OF THE MAIN PP&E IN OPERATION On August 3, 2018, Transelec paid the Promissory Note held with Banco BCI at its maturity of MCh$20,000.

Although increases in inflation may have an impact on the costs of debt denominated in UF and therefore on the Company’s 

finance expenses, these impacts are slightly lessened by accounts receivable denominated in UF.

3. CASH FLOWS ANALYSIS
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CURRENT DEBT

As of December 31, 2018, the flow from activities of the operation reached MCh$203,189, which increased by 6.7% compared 

to the same period of 2017 (MCh$190,442). The difference is mainly explained by lower payments to suppliers of MM$13,995.

During the same period, the cash flow used in investment activities was MCh$81,597, a 28.4% less than the amount allocated 

as of December 31, 2017 (MCh$113,963). The decrease is mainly explained by lower purchases of property, plant and equip-

ment of MCh$33,334 and to a lesser extent, by a lower loan to related entities of MCh$42,049. This was partially compensated 

because there was a flow associated with the transfer of assets of Transelec Concesiones in 2017.

As of December 2018, the cash flow used in financing activities reached MCh$79,161, increasing by 13.9% in relation to the 

same period of 2017 (MCh$69,498). In 2017, the new debt from Banco BCI reduced the cash flow used that period. The pay-

ment of that debt increases de cash flow used this period.

1 Revolving Credit Facility: USD Tranche MM US$150: The floating rate of 4.06% breaks down in 3 months Libor rate plus a margin of 1.25%. At December 31, 2018, the Com-
pany did not utilize this line therefore does not pay interest of 4.06% and currently is paying a fixed commission of 0.4375% per annum of the committed amount undrawn.
2 Revolving Credit Facility: UF Tranche MM UF$2.5: The floating rate of 2.44% breaks down in TAB UF 180 rate plus a margin of 0.25%. At December 31, 2018, the Company did 
not utilize this line therefore does not pay interest of 2.44% and currently is paying a fixed commission of 0.15% per annum of the committed amount undrawn.
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It should also be noted that, in order to ensure the immediate availability of funds to cover working capital needs, as of Decem-

ber 31, 2018 the company has the following committed credit line (Revolving Credit Facility), which was renegotiated in 2017 

and is fully available:
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4. INDICATORS

Financial restrictions contained in local debt agreements are presented in the next table:

Rates of profitability, liquidity and indebtedness of the company are presented in the next table:

1 Equity= Total equity attributable to owners of the parent plus accumulated amortization of Goodwill. The accumulated amortization of Goodwill between June 30, 2006 and 
December 31, 2018 amounted to MCh$24.970.
2 Test to distribute restricted payments such as dividends.
3 FNO= Cash flow from operating activities plus the absolute value of finance costs, plus the absolute value of the expenditure for Income Taxes.

1 Profitability ratios are presented under last twelve months criteria.
2 Shareholders’ Equity profitability is calculated as Net Income over Equity. 
3 Assets profitability is calculated as Net Income over Total Assets.
4 Operating assets profitability is calculated as Net Income over total value of the Main Pp&E.
5 Earnings per share is calculated as Net Income over total shares.
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5. THE TRANSMISION MARKET

5.1. THE TRANSMISSION ACTIVITY AND ITS REGULATION

Transelec develops its activities in Chile in the electricity market, which has been divided into three sectors: generation, trans-

mission and distribution. The generation sector includes companies that are dedicated to produce electricity that will subse-

quently be used throughout the country by end users. The purpose of the distribution sector is to carry electricity to the physical 

location where each end user will use this electricity. Finally, the primary goal of the transmission sector (the only sector in 

which it participates Transelec) is to transport the generated electricity from where it is produced (electrical power plants) to 

the ‘points of entry’ of the distribution companies’ networks or of the large end users.

The transmission system of Transelec which stretches between ‘Arica y Parinacota’ Regions to ‘Los Lagos’ Region, encompasses 

the majority of the transmission lines and substations in the National Electrical System. This transmission system transports 

the electricity that supplies approximately 98.5% of Chile’s population. The Company owns the 35% of all of the 500 kV electri-

city transport lines, 40% of the 220 kV lines, 83% of the 154 kV lines and 10% of the 110kV and 66kV lines.

The legal framework that governs the electrical transmission business in Chile is contained in DFL No. 4/2006, which establishes 

the modified, coordinated and systemized text of Decree with Force of Law No. 1 from the Ministry of Mining, issued in 1982; 

and the General Electricity Services Law. (DFL No. 1/82) and its subsequent modifications, including Law 19,940 (‘Ley Corta 

I’) published on March 13, 2004, and the Law 20.936 issued on July 20, 2016, which stablishes a new electric transmission 

system and creates an independent coordinator of the National Electric System. Additionally, those who explodes and operates 

transmission facilities must follow at every time the Technical Standard on Reliability and Service Quality (Exempt Resolution 

No. 299 of April 26, 2018).

The Law 20,936/2016 redefines transmission systems classifying them into five segments: National Transmission System (pre-

viously trunk), the Transmission Systems Zonal (previously subtransmission) Systems Dedicated (previously additional trans-

mission), Systems for Development Poles and International Systems Interconnection. Additionally the bill of law addresses the 

transmission planning a long-term horizon and regulates the pricing of national, zonal and for development poles systems and 

payment for use of transmission facilities dedicated by users liable to price regulation. 

Transelec’s business is focused on the economic retribution that can obtain for tolls by use of the transport and transforma-

tion capacity of its facilities, aligned to the security and quality service standards. Transelec has the right to annually receive 

the annual transmission value (VATT) for its facilities belonging to the national and zonal transmission systems, defined in the 

tariff processes or in the Decree for the award of expansion works, as the case may be. In the case of the installations of the 

Dedicated Transmission System, Transelec agrees private transport contracts with the respective users, to define the payment 

for the use of this type of facilities.  
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5.2. Valuation and pricing of facilities

Prices associated to transmission activity are determined by the Commission every four years by conducting an internationally 

tendered study, and processes that include the participation of companies, users and interested institutions and the Panel of 

Experts in the event of any discrepancies.

Pricing of the existing facilities recognizes the efficient acquisition and installation costs according to market prices, which are 

annualized considering the assets life determined every three tariff periods and whit a variable discount rate, which will not be 

less than 7% or higher than 10%. The owners of regulated transmission facilities must receive the Annual Transmission Value 

from the sum of the real tariff revenues and a single charge associated to each segment and applied directly to end users.

During 2014 and 2015 were developed the third trunk facilities tariff process in order to determinate the tariffs and indexation 

formulas corresponding to the period 2016 - 2019, that were fixed by Decree N° 23T by the Minister of Energy on February 3, 

2016 and its application is retroactive from January 1, 2016. These regulations established the trunk transmission facilities and 

the new Investment Values (VI), the Annuity of the Investment Value (AVI) and the Operating, Maintenance and Administration 

Costs (COMA), plus the VATT of the trunk facilities, and the Indexation formulas applicable during that period.

The Law 20,936 establishes a new payment regime for using national facilities that would become effective as of January 1, 

2019 starting on that date and a transitory period that will extend until December 31, 2034, period during which the payments 

of the generating companies for the associated use to the supply agreements for free and regulated customers, concluded prior 

to the publication of enactment of this new law, will apply the same general rules for calculating the payment of the trunk 

transmission with some adjustments. These resulting injections tolls will be reduced year by year and the payment of the co-

rresponding amounts will be transferred to the demand.

In relation to the Zonal transmission system facilities (previously subtransmission), on April 9, 2013, the Supreme Decree No. 

14 was published by the Ministry of Energy, setting subtransmission tariffs from January 2011 to December 2014. The diffe-

rence between invoiced amounts using these provisional tariffs since January 2011 until the publishing date of this decree 

were reassessed by the CDEC based on the difference between the provisional tariff and the definitive values established by 

Decree No. 14. According to what is indicated in the transitory third article of Law 20,805 published on January 29, 2015, and 

to what is established in the Decree No. 7T of April 22, 2015, the validity of the Decree No. 121/2010, which fixes the tariffs of 

subtransmission facilities, and of the Exempt Decree No. 14/2013, which fixes the qualification of subtransmission facilities, is 

extended until December 31, 2015.

In accordance with the provisions of the eleventh transitory article of Law 20,936, during the period between the January 1, 

2016 and December 31, 2017, remain in force Decree No. 14 and subtransmission tariffs, excluding payment corresponding to 

the generating companies. The Ministry of Energy issued on May 27, 2017 the 1T Decree where the Decree No. 14 adjustments 

were defined to implement the exemption from power plants and for harmonious and consistent implementation with the 

application decree 23T. Because of this the subtransmission revenues that have been collected since is 1 January 2016 were 

reassessed under the provisions containing the decree.



On the other hand, in accordance with the provisions of the twelfth article of the Transmission Law, during the period of the 

extended term of Decree 14 or Decree 1T, continuity and termination of the process of setting the new subtransmission rates 

were given which will have valid from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2019. Thus, on July 19, 2018, the CNE published Exempt 

Resolution No. 531 which replaces the technical report that defines the VATT of the Zonal Transmission Systems and the pro-

portion of use of the dedicated transmission of users subject to price regulation in the 2018-2019 biennium, approved through 

CNE Exempt Resolution No. 414 of July 31, 2017, in accordance with the provisions of the new Transmission Law. This technical 

report served as the basis for the enactment of Decree 6T, published in the official gazette on October 5, 2018, which establi-

shes annual value per tranche of the zonal and dedicated transmission facilities used by users subject to price regulation, their 
rates and indexation formulas for the 2018-2019 biennium.

6.MARKET RISK FACTORS

Due to the nature of the electrical market and the legislation and standards that regulate this sector, Transelec is not exposed 

to significant risks in developing its principal business. However, the following risk factors should be mentioned and considered:

6.1. REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

As mentioned above, electricity transmission tariffs are set by law and are indexed in order to guarantee real annual returns for 

the operator. The nature of the industry enables transmission income to be stable over time. In addition, this income is com-

plemented with income obtained from private contracts with large clients.

However, the fact that these tariffs are revised every four years in National and Zonal Transmission Studies, could place the 

Company at risk of new tariffs that are detrimental or less attractive given the investments it has made.

In addition, it should also be considered that the Law of Transmission established that the Commission, every four years, must 

carry out the process of qualification of the lines and electrical substations of the system to determine to which segment of the 

transmission they belong, that is if they belong to the system of national transmission, for development poles, of zonal trans-

mission, denominated regulated transmission segments, or belong to the dedicated systems. Therefore, every four years there 

is the possibility that facilities belonging to regulated transmission segments are qualified as part of the dedicated segment 

and vice versa. This change in rating will imply a change also in the form of economic compensation of the facilities, based on 

regulated tariffs or according to private contracts. In the latter case, Transelec must first identify the users of these facilities 

and then negotiate the respective transport contracts with them.

The law 20,936 considers the promulgation of several regulations, has some already published (Reglamento del Coordinador 

Eléctrico, del Panel de Expertos, de Determinación de Franjas Preliminares, para Dictación de Normas Técnicas y para la Deter-

minación y Pago de Compensaciones) and others are in development such as Planificación y de Valorización and publication is 

expected in the second half of 2018. Notwithstanding that for the elaboration of the great majority of these regulations, the 

authority has contemplated the participation of the private agents of the sector through workshops and of the citizenship in 

general through the procedures of public consultation, the authority is not obliged to incorporate the comments and observa-
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tions made to the preliminary versions of the regulations, and finally may include what it deems pertinent or necessary, always 

in accordance with the law.

Additionally, in virtue of the regime of unrestricted open access that the new law stablishes about the National, Zonal, Interna-

tional Interconnection, Development Poles Transmissions Systems and Dedicated Systems when technical capacity is available, 

it is possible to detect a risk directly associated to scope and application of this reform, since the authority will be the one sta-

blishing the particular conditions of implementation of this regime in the respective bylaw. Notwithstanding this, the National 

Energy Commission issued on March 30 a resolution that regulates in detail this matter, in a transitional way until the issuance 

of the definitive regulation.

6.2. OPERATING RISKS

Although the Company’s management believes it has adequate risk coverage, in line with industry practices, it cannot guaran-

tee the sufficiency of its insurance policy coverage for certain operating risks to which it is exposed, including forces of nature, 

damages to transmission facilities, on-the-job accidents and equipment failure. Any of these events could negatively affect the 

Company’s financial statements. 

6.3. APPLICATION OF REGULATIONS AND/OR ENVIRONMENTAL LAW

The operations of Transelec are subject to Law No. 19.300, on Chilean general basis of the environment (‘Environmental Law’), 

enacted in 1994 and its principal modification is through the Law No. 20.417 published in the Official Gazette on January 26, 

2010. This modification considered an institutional change, creating new institutions with environmental competencies: (i) the 

Ministry of Environmental Affairs; (ii) the Minister Council for Sustainability; (iii) the Environmental Assessment Service; and 

(iv) the Superintendence of Environmental Affairs; these institutions are in charge of the regulation, evaluation and inspection 

of the activities that are likely to generate environmental impacts. Afterwards, the Law No. 20.600 was published on June 28, 

2012, creating the Environmental Courts, whose function is to resolve environmental disputes within its jurisdiction.

 

This specialization in the institutional framework generates a scenario of greater control and oversight in the actions of the 

company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, on July 31, 2018, the government entered into the National Congress a bill that 

modernizes the Environmental Impact Assessment System (SEIA) as an environmental management instrument. With the mo-

difications, the Executive intends to reduce the political component in the environmental qualification procedure through the 

creation of macrozones and the elimination of the Council of Ministers; expand and improve spaces for citizen participation and 

resolve historical legal controversies. To date, the legislature has not ruled on the amendments.

The enactment of the Supreme Decree No. 66/2013 of the Minister of Social Development, which regulates the indigenous 

consultation procedure and its application considered in the Supreme Decree No. 40/2012 for the projects in the SEIA, has 

had results of relative effectiveness, implying delays in the management of some projects and even the prosecution of some 

environmental authorizations. However, during the past few months there has been a relative decline in the prosecution of the 

environmental licenses. 
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It should be mentioned that, projects that could be materialize in Chile are facing a more informed and organized citizenry, the-

refore, the challenge is include early people’s concerns and proposals of the community through participatory and informational 

processes a in an early stage pre environmental project processing. The risk of not considering the citizenry in this early stage, 

results in a greater complexity scenario regarding the environmental approval and the prosecution of environmental licenses. 

6.4. DELAYS IN THE CONSTRUCTION OF NEW TRANSMISSION FACILITIES

The success of the program for extending the trunk transmission network and building new facilities will depend on numerous 

factors, including cost and availability of funding. Although Transelec has experience with large-scale construction projects, the 

construction of new facilities could be negatively affected by factors commonly associated with such projects including delays 

in obtaining regulatory authorizations, scarcity of equipment, materials or labor, etc. Any of these factors could cause delays in 

the partial or total completion of the capital investment program, and could increase the costs of the projects. 

6.5. TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGES

Transelec is compensated for investments that makes in electrical transmission facilities through an annual valuation of the 

existing facilities (AVI), which is performed every four years using current market prices. Any significant technological advance 

in the equipment that are part of Transelec’ facilities could lower this valuation, which would prevent partial recovery of the 

investments made.

6.6. FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK 

The following factors expose Transelec to foreign exchange risk (since Chilean peso is the functional currency):

> Transelec carries out several types of transactions in U.S. dollars (construction contracts, import purchases, etc.). 

> Maintains lease contracts that generate income indexed to US dollars.   

> Maintains accounts payables in US dollars associated to debt issued in U.S. America.

> Maintains accounts receivables in US dollars associated to intercompany loans.

> Maintains Cross Currency Swap contracts that compensates the risks of exchange rates on the international issuances.

Exchange rate exposure is managed using a policy that involves fully hedging the Company’s net balance sheet exposure using 

diverse instruments such as foreign exchange forward contracts and cross currency swaps.
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The following table details the amounts of monetary assets and liabilities denominated into dollar and Chilean pesos in the 

periods indicated below:

Below are the exchange rates (Observed Dollar) in Chilean pesos to the United States dollar; in the periods indicated.
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The income that Transelec is entitled to receive for its facilities belonging to the national and zonal transmission systems (VATT) 

and for the installations of the dedicated systems (toll contracts), are indexed in order to maintain their real values during the 

period of validity of these rates or tolls. These revenues are expressed in accordance with their base value, in dollars, and are 

updated according to components whose cost variation over time correlates with national or international economic indicators, 

considering the availability and stability of the source that issues it.

6.7. CREDIT RISK 

Credit risk corresponding to receivables from commercial activities, is historically very low due to the nature of the business of 

the Company’s clients and the short term of collection of receivables from clients, which explain the fact of not having signifi-

cant accumulated amounts.

As of December 31st, 2018, the Company has five clients which represent individually between 1.5% and 34.4% of total reve-

nues. These are Enel Group (MCh$113,262), Colbún Group (MCh$45,571), AES Gener Group (MCh$39,962), Pacific Hydro-LH-LC 

Group (MCh$22,549) and Engie (MCh$4,918). The total sum of these main customers corresponds to a 68.7% of the total 

income of the Company. In the same period of 2017, the Company had a similar structure of clients, whose revenues reached 

to MCh$112,481, MCh$49,706, MCh$43,930, MCh$6,418 and MCh$13,763 respectively, with a percentage of total incomes of 

81.2%.

The toll agreements signed with these clients, including its subsidiaries, will generate a large part of the Company’s future cash 

flows and, therefore, a substantial change in their assets, financial condition and/or operating income could negatively affect 

the Company.

In terms of the Company’s credit risk associated with financial assets (time deposits, fixed-return mutual funds and sell-back 

agreements), its treasury policy establishes certain limits on a particular institution’s exposure; such limits depend on the risk 

rating and capital of each institution. Likewise, for investments in mutual funds, only funds with a risk rating qualify.

6.8. LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk of the Company not satisfying a need for cash or debt payment upon maturity. Liquidity risk also inclu-

des the risk of not being able to liquidate assets in a timely manner at a reasonable price.

a) Risk associated to Company’s Management 

In order to guarantee that Transelec is able to quickly react financially to investment opportunities and pay its obligations by 

their maturity dates, in addition to its cash balances and short-term receivables, the Company has committed line of credit 

for working capital of approximately US$250 million, equivalent to MCh$173.129.975. As of the balance sheet date, does not 

register balance of used amounts. This committed line of credit was contracted on July 9, 2012, being renegotiated in 2014 

and 2017. The last renovation was on August 03, 2017 maintains the total amount but it includes a local tranche and a USD 
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tranche with others improvements. Is granted for a period of three years by a bank syndicate consisting of Scotiabank, Bank of 

Tokyo-Mitsubishi, EDC DnB NOR and Banco Estado. This line does not include any material clause of adverse change. 

The Company is exposed to risks associated with indebtedness, including refinancing risk when its debt matures. These risks 

are mitigated by using long-term debt and appropriately structuring maturities over time. 

The following table presents the capital amortizations corresponding to the Company’s financial liabilities, according to their 

maturity date, as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017. 

b) Associated risk to the settlement of trunk transmission system tariff revenues 

According to Decree N°4/20,018 from the Ministry of Economy, Fomentation and Reconstruction, in its articles 81, 101, 104 and 

106, and complementary rules, Transelec has the right to perceive on a provisory basis the real tariff income (IT for its name in 

Spanish) of the Sistema Nacional (Ex Troncal) generated for every period. 

In order to get their own revenues set up in the first paragraph of article N°101 of the above mentioned Decree N°4/20.018, the 

real tariff income perceived on a provisory basis must be settled by Transelec according to the repayment schedule prepared 

by the respective CEN (National Electrical Coordinator) through the collection or payment to the different companies, owners 

of generation facilities.

Transelec could face the risk of not timely collecting the IT that some of the companies owners of generation facilities should 

pay as determined in the energy balances prepared by CEN, what may temporarily affect the Company’s liquidity position. In 

this sense, and in the opinion of the Company, the “clearing house” function that Transelec fulfills in the above-mentioned 

collection process, consists not of the collection of amounts for its own benefit, but it is merely collection and subsequent 

transfers to third parties of credits and debts that belong to the generating companies, with the exception of the expected IT.

6.9. INTEREST RATE RISKS

Significant changes in fair values and future cash flows of financial instruments that can be directly attributable to interest rate 

risks include changes in the net proceeds from financial instruments whose cash flows are determined in reference to floating 

interest rates and changes in the value of financial instruments with fixed cash flows. 

The Company’s assets are primarily fixed and long-lived intangible assets. Consequently, financial liabilities that are used to 
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finance such assets consist primarily of long-term liabilities at fixed rates. This debt is recorded in the balance sheet at amor-

tized cost. 

The objective of interest rate risk management is to achieve a balanced debt structure, decrease the impact on costs due to 

interest rate variations and, reduce volatility in the income statement. 

All the debt as of December 31, 2018, and as of December 31, 2017, was at a fixed rate. However, in the case of UF indexed 

debt, variations in inflation rates could potentially impact the Company’s financial expenses.

UF VALUES

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS:

> Mr. Paul Dufresne, Director of Transelec S.A. submitted his resignation on January 15, 2019.
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY

Both the Directors and the CEO of Transelec S.A., which are 

signing this declaration, are responsible, under oath, regar-

ding the accuracy of the information provided in this 2018 

Annual Report, pursuant to General Norm No. 30, issued by 

the Superintendency of Securities and Insurance, today the 

Commission for the Financial Market.
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